Tumor abolition and antitumor immunostimulation by physico-chemical tumor ablation

Yona Keisari¹

¹The Roberts-Guthman Chair of Immunopharmacology, Department of Clinical Microbiology and Immunology, Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, 6997801 Tel Aviv, Israel

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
 - 2.1. Immunotherapy of cancer
 - 2.2. The tumor as its own vaccine
 - 2.3. How to reinforce the anti tumor immune reaction endorsed by ablation
- 3. Stimulation of anti-tumor immunity by different ablation treatments
 - 3.1. Radiation
 - 3.2. Heat based tumor ablation
 - 3.2.1. Hyperthermia range ablation
 - 3.2.2. Radiofrequency ablation (RFA)
 - 3.2.3. Microwave ablation (MWA)
 - 3.2.4. Laser induced ablation
 - 3.2.5. High Intensity Focused ultrasound (HIFU)
 - 3.2.6. Cryoablation
 - 3.3. Electric based cancer ablation
 - 3.4. Photodynamic therapy
 - 3.5. Chemical ablation and targeted therapy
 - 3.5.1. Chemotherapy
 - 3.5.2. Targeted therapy
 - 3.6. Surgery
- 4. Combination of ablation and immuno-manipulation to reinforce the immune response
 - 4.1. Agents, which stimulate immune response components: Microbial or chemical immunoadjuvants, dendritic cells, cytokines and tumor vaccines
 - 4.1.1. Immunoadjuvants
 - 4.1.2. Dendritic cells
 - 4.1.3. Cytokines and growth factors
 - 4.1.4. Tumor vaccines
 - 4.2. Agents that inhibit immunosuppressive cells and molecules
 - 4.2.1. Inhibition or depletion of MDSC and/or tregs
 - 4.2.2. Inhibitors of immune inhibitory pathways-checkpoint blockade
 - 4.3. Adoptive transfer of T cells
- 5. Clinical manifestation of ablation and immunostimulation
 - 5.1. Radiation therapy mediated ablation and anti tumor immunity
 - 5.2. Thermal ablation
 - 5.2.1. RF ablation and anti-tumor immunity
 - 5.2.2. Laser and microwave ablation (MWA)
 - 5.2.3. High intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU)
 - 5.2.4. Cryoablation
 - 5.3. Electric based cancer ablation
 - 5.4. Photodynamic therapy
 - 5.5. Chemical and biological ablation
- 6. Comparison of immunostimulatory efficacy of different ablation modalities
- 7. Summary and conclusions
- 8. Acknowledgements
- 9. References

1. ABSTRACT

Tumor ablation by thermal, chemical and radiological sources has received substantial attention for the treatment of many localized malignancies. The primary goal of most ablation procedures is to eradicate all viable malignant cells within a designated target volume through the application of energy or chemicals. Methods such as radiotherapy, chemical and biological ablation, photodynamic therapy, cryoablation, high-temperature ablation (radiofrequency, microwave, laser, and ultrasound), and electric-based ablation have been developed for focal malignancies. In recent years a large volume of data emerged on the effect of *in situ* tumor destruction (ablation) on inflammatory and immune components resulting in systemic anti-tumor reactions. It is evident that in situ tumor ablation can involve tumor antigen release, cross presentation and the release of DAMPS and make the tumor its own cellular vaccine. Tumor tissue destruction by in situ ablation may stimulate antigen-specific cellular immunity engendered by an inflammatory milieu. Dendritic cells (DCs) attracted to this microenvironment, will undergo maturation after internalizing cellular debris containing tumor antigens and will be exposed to damage associated molecular pattern (DAMP). Mature DCs can mediate antigen-specific cellular immunity via presentation of processed antigens to T cells. The immunomodulatory properties, exhibited by in situ ablation could portend a future collaboration with immunotherapeutic measures. In this review are summarized and discuss the preclinical and clinical studies pertinent to the phenomena of stimulation of specific anti-tumor immunity by various ablation modalities and the immunology related measures used to boost this response.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1. Immunotherapy of cancer

Globally, cancer claimed an estimated 7.6. million lives in 2008 and is on pace to double that number by 2030 (1). The role of the immune response in tumor development and treatment was discussed in a large volume of literature culminating in the understanding that immune surveillance and cancer immunoediting are part of the biology of tumors (2). The importance of the immune response in tumor progression and determent was re-emphasized by recent studies, which show that the immunological profile of the patient is a strong predicator for prognosis (3), which opened a global effort to analyze the "immunome" of the cancer patient and its correlation with the development of the disease.

Immunotherapy of cancer was a major target since 1891 when William Coley started an experimental treatment of cancer patients with bacterial derived products, actually introducing the first danger signal treatment, claiming that the beneficial effect is a result of activation of anti-tumor immunity (4). This effort is

ongoing and seventeen immunotherapy products have received FDA approval in the past quarter century (5).

Several monoclonal antibodies targeting cancerassociated proteins (Her2/neu, EGFR, VEGF, CD20, CD52, CD22, CD30, CD38 and CD33) are approved for the treatment of solid and haematological malignancies (6). Other immune treatments that have received the FDA approval include recombinant cytokines, the most studied of these, IL-2, has demonstrated clinical responses in metastatic melanoma and metastatic renal cell carcinoma (7). Interferon-a is another agent that gained approval for 'immunological cancers' (that is, melanoma or renal cell cancer). Adoptive cell transfer (ACT) is another immunotherapeutic measure currently used to treat mainly melanoma patients. Immune cells from the patient are propagated in vitro and transferred back with the goal of transferring improved immune functionality and characteristics along with the cells back to the patient. Transferring autologous cells, or cells from the patient, minimizes graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) also described as tissue or organ rejection (8). Promising recent strategies include the use of lymphodepletion before T-cell infusion, and the engineering of new T-cell specificities with CARs (9, 10).

In recent years a major hype was formed around the 'checkpoint blockade' — referring to the use of antibodies that block immune-inhibitory pathways switched on by cancer cells. CTLA-4 and PD-1 are two key cell-surface receptors that, when bound by their ligands trigger such inhibitory pathways and inhibit T-cell activity. Antibodies that block CTLA-4 (ipilimumab), PD-1 (pembrolizumab and nivolumab) and its ligand PDL-1 have been approved to treat patients, and the clinical responses are often durable, with some patients remaining free from disease progression for many years. Until recently, the efficacy of these treatments has been noted mainly for melanoma and renal-cell carcinoma (11-13).

Amajor long time effort was devoted to developing anti cancer vaccines. Currently there are several vaccine types in clinical studies these include tumor cells, peptides and proteins, dendritic cell-Ag combinations, and recombinant vectors (For review see (14, 15)).

2.2. The tumor as its own vaccine

The difficulties to develop efficient cancer vaccines, due to problems with the identification of tumor-specific antigens, stimulated different efforts aiming to prime an anti-tumor immune response. The observation that irradiation of a tumor site can cause the decrease in size of distant tumor tissue (the abscopal effect) (16) raised the notion that destruction of the primary tumor can stimulate anti tumor immunity which will eradicate

residual tumor cells. It is becoming increasingly apparent that many standard cancer treatments may enhance the effectiveness of anti tumor immune reactions, possibly due to increased inflammation, release of antigen and danger signals, immunogenic cell death pathways and dampening the effects of regulatory cells.

This idea prompted a large volume of studies on the anti tumor immune response after *in situ* destruction (ablation) of solid tumors in preclinical and clinical settings. Tumor ablation is defined as the direct application of chemical, thermal or electrical energy to a specific focal tumor in an attempt to achieve eradication or cytoreduction inducing cellular necrosis. Image guided tumor ablation is widely used in the treatment of various solid tumors (17, 18). Apparently, any treatment modality, which destroys solid tumors *in situ* can be considered as an ablative treatment. The major types are radiation, thermal and electric based treatments, chemical and biological cytotoxic agents and photodynamic therapy.

A large volume of data is available stressing that destruction of the tumor by various therapeutic and ablative modalities can release tumor-associated antigens in the context of danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) to the immune system resulting in the elimination of residual malignant cells in primary tumors and distant metastases. It was argued that this process could make the tumor its own cellular vaccine, and that it is differentially modulated by different treatments. Reports on this topic were summarized in a book (19) and two recent reviews (20, 21), stressing the point that any tumor ablation tried so far can stimulate anti-tumor immunity.

2.3. How to reinforce the anti-tumor immune reaction endorsed by ablation

The immune response triggered after ablation, which was mostly very weak, called for enforcement by immunomodulating agents. Indeed, many investigators are delving immunotherapy combinations with ablation modalities as promising strategies to improve cancer treatment (22-25).

Tumours escape immune attack by a variety of complementary mechanisms of immunosuppression loss of antigens, loss of MHC molecules, many of which operate in parallel. The presence of suppressive factors such as Treg cells or Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) in the tumor microenvironment, and upregulation of surface ligands, which mediate T-cell anergy (or exhaustion) may explain the limited activity observed with previous immune-based therapies. This topic was dealt with in two reviews (26, 27).

The current review will bring evidence for ablation-mediated immune activation in preclinical models (section 3) and in patients (section 5). The

published approaches for immunostimulation used in combination with various ablation modalities including the use of immunopotentiating agents such as adjuvants, dendritic cells, cytokines and growth factors, tumor vaccines and adoptive cell transfer will be outlined (sections 4 and 5). Measures to counteract suppressive mechanisms in combination with ablative procedures will be also discussed (sections 4.2. and 5). The relative potency of different ablation treatments to reinforce antitumor immunity will be also addressed (section 6).

3. STIMULATION OF ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNITY BY DIFFERENT ABLATION TREATMENTS

3.1. Radiation

Radiation oncology, which started in the discovery of X-rays in 1895 developed into a major tool in the treatment of cancer (28). Along with surgery and chemotherapy, radiation therapy is one of the most important methods of cancer treatment, and approximately 50-70% of cancer patients will receive radiation therapy. Radiation therapy involves photons (e.g. X-rays) or particles (e.g. protons, neutrons, alpha particles, heavy ions, and electrons). The most prevalent radiation treatment is the use of gamma or x-rays radiation (External Beam Radiation Therapy -EBRT). It is useful for treatment of local and regional disease sites, or where surgical excision of the tumor is not feasible due to the size and site of tumor, or patients' medical condition. The effectiveness EBRT is limited due to hypoxia in the tumor.

Several modes of EBRT were developed such as stereotactic radiotherapy (SRT), stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT), its extension stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR), and lately, intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) (29).

The report that irradiation of a tumor site can cause the decrease in size of distant tumor tissue (the abscopal effect) (16) triggered the concept that radiation and other aggressive *in situ* tumor destruction (ablation) modalities could stimulate anti-tumor immune reactivity, which is responsible for the systemic effects.

A considerable number of reports addressed this issue and experimental data could indicate that the radiation-induced tissue damage triggers production of generic "danger" signals that mobilize the innate and adaptive immune system. Danger microenvironment engenders a DC-mediated antigen-specific immune response (30-32). It was also suggested that the abscopal effect results from loss of growth stimulatory and/or immunosuppressive factors from the tumor (33). An extensive review article, published by leading investigators in this field, gathered information about the impact of RT on tumor immunity, including tumor-associated antigens, antigen-presenting cells,

and effector mechanisms. The review also discussed the experimental evidence supporting the contention that RT can be used as a tool to induce antitumor immunity (34).

Since gamma or X-ray radiation is the prevalent radiotherapeutic modality, most of the data about radiation-mediated immune response activation was obtained using this type of treatment. Yet, more recent studies indicate that heavy particles (neutrons, protons, alpha particles and heavy ions) can also destroy tumors and initiate anti-tumor immunity. Heavy particles defined as high-linear energy transfer (high-LET) radiation and deposit more energy along the path they take through tissue than do x-rays or gamma rays, interact directly with the critical target in the cell, and cause more damage to the cells they hit. The short range of alpha particles in tissue (less than 0.1. millimeter) has so far limited their medical applicability.

We developed a potent tumor ablation brachytherapy based on alpha irradiation. Our approach termed Diffusing Alpha emitters Radiation Therapy (DaRT) is based on the intra-tumoral insertion of radium-224 loaded wires, which release by recoil short-lived alpha-emitting atoms into the tumor. These atoms disperse in the tumor, and spray it with highly destructive alpha radiation particles. DaRT is the only modality currently available, which provides an efficient method for prolonged treatment of the entire volume of solid tumors by alpha radiation (35). DaRT achieved substantial tumor growth retardation, extended survival, reduced lung metastases and even complete cure of animals bearing murine squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). pancreatic, colon, prostate, and breast mouse derived tumors, and human derived tumors (summarized in (36)). Applied as a monotherapy, DaRT boosted the anti-tumor immune responses in both high and low immunogenic experimental tumor models (36). Moreover, DaRT in combination with CpG retarded the growth of DA3 derived tumors more effectively than each treatment alone (37).

Delivering alpha radiation (bismuth-213) using Radioimmunotherapy (RIT) to treat the murine adenocarcinoma MC-38 also induced a protective antitumor response that was mediated by tumor-specific T cells (38). Carbon ion beam (CIB) treatment at a clinically available dose to a poorly immunogenic squamous cell carcinoma cell line (SCCVII) primary tumors resulted not only in efficient elimination of the primary tumor but also in a dramatic reduction of tumor formation after secondary tumor challenge at a contralateral site. The antitumor effects were the result of tumor-specific, long-lasting antitumor immunity through CD8-positive T lymphocytes and was enhanced significantly by combining it with DC immunotherapy (39).

Radiation can affect anti-tumor immunity by either modulating inflammatory and adaptive immune

components, or making the tumor cells more vulnerable to immune attack, or releasing tumor antigens and danger signals, or all of the above.

Tissue damage inflicted by radiation can release tumor antigens and danger signals into an inflammatory milieu, which will attract dendritic cells (DCs) among other cells. DCs undergoing maturation after internalizing apoptotic and necrotic cellular debris can promote a tumor specific immune response. Radiation can also promote anti-tumor immunity by increasing MHC class I expression on tumor cells and antigen presenting dendritic cells, along with tumor antigenic peptides and immune co-accessory molecules in tumor, stromal, and vascular endothelial cells. Radiation can induce production of pro-inflammatory and secretory molecules (cytokines, inflammatory mediators) like TNF and interleukin 1, and cell adhesion molecules by both cells and tissues (40-45).

Irradiation may have a direct effect on the immune response and produce potent immune adjuvant effects independent of its ability to induce tumor ablation. A non-myeloablative dose of total body irradiation followed by lymphocyte infusion results in a dramatic increase in responsiveness to tumor DNA vaccines against melanoma, with augmentation of T cell responses to tumor antigens and tumor eradication. Both a relative decrease in regulatory T cells and increase in activated dendritic cells were observed and corresponded with a brief window (24 hours) of augmented responsiveness to immunization. When immunizations were initiated within the period of augmented dendritic cell activation, mice develop anti-tumor responses that show increased durability as well as magnitude, and improved survival (46).

In spite of the positive data showing that RT can act to enhance anti-tumor immunity and aid in tumor cure, there are also examples of detrimental effects. Tumor-associated macrophages in the post-irradiated tumor microenvironment express higher levels of Arg-1, COX-2, and iNOS, and promote early tumor growth *in vivo* (47). The immune system is of course under considerable control by cells other than macrophages and the role for example of regulatory T cells has to be considered, and RT is also able to generate regulatory T cells as a response to damage just as it can generate immunity (48).

The studies of the last fifteen years intensified the understanding about the nature of the interrelationship between radiotherapy the immune response and the tumor microenvironment. Strategies aimed at interfering with the cross-talk between microenvironment tumor cells and their cellular partners were suggested, while taking into account that this new knowledge will probably translate into indication and objective of radiation therapy changes in the next future (49, 50).

3.2. Heat based tumor ablation

All thermal ablation techniques have in common the application of thermal energy to a tissue to produce tissue necrosis and tumor destruction. Thermal ablation, applied either in the whole body or locally, can be divided into the heat-based modalities, which include radiofrequency (RF), microwave (MW), high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU), and laser ablation, and the tissue-freezing technique referred to as cryoablation (51).

Delivering very high temperatures to tumors for short periods of time leads to significant temperature heterogeneity and targeted tumors likely contain cells exposed to the fever range of heating (37-41°C), the "hyperthermia range" (42°C-47°C) and the thermal ablation range (above 47°C). Each of these temperatures likely has different implications in terms of mechanisms of killing and interaction with the immune system. At lower temperatures, in the fever range (FRH) direct tumor cell killing is minimal and cell inactivation is due to profound immune stimulation of a wide range of immune cells. Cell death in the "hyperthermia range" (42-47°C) appears to be due to protein denaturation and is strongly enhanced by properties of the tumor microenvironment such as low glucose and reduced extracellular pH. Above 50 °C a different mode of tumor eradication is seen, characterized by cell necrosis and tissue coagulation (52). Thermal ablation of tumors such as hepatoma is carried out at temperatures exceeding 50 °C using radiofrequency (RF), microwaves and high intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU). At 48 °C - 55 °C the mechanisms of cell killing appear to differ from the hyperthermia range and involve much lower activation energies for cell inactivation. Interestingly, 50°C appears to be the threshold temperature needed to trigger tissue coagulation and necrosis in ablation therapy (53).

Over the past decades, thermo-ablative techniques for the therapy of localized tumors have gained importance in the treatment of patients not eligible for surgical resection. Anecdotal reports have described spontaneous distant tumor regression after thermal ablation, indicating a possible involvement of the immune system, hence an induction of antitumor immunity after thermal-induced therapy. In recent years, a growing body of evidence for modulation of both adaptive and innate immunity, as well as for the induction of danger signals through thermoablation, has emerged. Induced immune responses, however, are mostly weak and not sufficient for the complete eradication of established tumors or durable prevention of disease progression, and combination therapies with immunomodulating drugs are being evaluated with promising results (54).

Immune effects of thermal ablation may depend on the mode of cell death that is produced. In broad terms, apoptotic cell death is tolerogenic and absorption of apoptotic cell bodies by immune cells inhibits immunity. Hyperthermia range heating may lead

to profound levels of apoptosis and its role in immunity is somewhat ambiguous. However, in the ablation range (above 47°C), cancer cell necrosis dominates and tumor specific immunity is observed, an effect that may play an important role in the outcome of treatment (52).

3.2.1. Hyperthermia range ablation

Local tumour hyperthermia for cancer treatment is currently used either for ablation purposes as an alternative to surgery or less frequently, in combination with chemotherapy and/or radiation therapy to enhance the effects of those traditional therapies. The "Hyperthermia Range" of heating is the one contemplated by exponents of this modality studied largely in the 1960s-1980s and comprises temperatures between 42°C and 47°C.

Data from animal models and human patients indicate that whole body and locoregional hyperthermia exerts many biological and therapeutic effects on immune competent cells and cytokines. Exposure of tumor bearing animals to temperatures in the hyperthermia range (below 50°C) may lead to apoptotic killing, conditions likely to induce immune tolerance to the tumor cells. It could be predicted that hyperthermia in this range might be immunogenic due to release of the abundant levels of HSPs that accumulate in heating. However, the effects of locally applied hyperthermia on tumor immunity are not consistent and both stimulation and inhibition of immunity are observed in this temperature range. The response of tumors to hyperthermia might thus involve competition between the immunogenic effects of Hsp70peptide complexes and the tolerizing effects of apoptotic cells that occur in heated tumors in vivo (52). It should be mentioned that hyperthermia has been demonstrated to enhance the antigen presentation and consequently the activity of dendritic cells (55).

Further preclinical studies showed locally heating tumours at 39-45° C can elicit antitumour immune responses by enabling tumour cells to stimulate the immune system through increased surface expression of MICA or MHC class I and release of HSPs and/or exosomes, by directly activating intra-tumoral immune cells such as NK cells, CD8+ T cells, and DCs, and by improving immune-cell trafficking between the tumour and lymphoid organs. Local tumour hyperthermia at 42-45°C in mice induces tumour-specific resistance against rechallenge in a CD8+ T cell-dependent manner. This efficacy is sensitive to small temperature differences, which means that there is a narrow optimal temperature range at least for a poorly immunogenic tumour. Thorough comparison of different temperatures/thermal doses is needed to fully understand what temperatures are most suitable for immune stimulation (56).

3.2.2. Radiofrequency ablation (RFA)

Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is a minimally invasive therapy for the local destruction of primary

tumors and unresectable metastases, primarily in the liver. Electrode probes are placed within tumors percutaneously or during open or laparoscopic surgery. RFA delivers high-frequency electromagnetic waves (375–500 kHz) to the target tissue through a needle electrode. This causes local ionic oscillation and frictional heating that induces protein denaturation and leads to coagulation necrosis and irreversible cell death (57).

RFA is used when surgical resection of hepatocellular carcinoma HCC is not possible, or in patients suffering from unresectable liver metastasis from colorectal cancer. Beneficial responses of RFA have also been observed in other metastatic liver tumors, such as neuroendocrine tumors and primary intrahepatic cholangiocellular carcinoma, as well as in other cancers, such as lymphoma, head and neck cancer, prostate cancer, primary and metastatic tumors of the lung, breast cancer, bone metastases, and small renal cell carcinoma.

Tumor-destructing techniques, like radiofrequency ablation (RFA), may provide the immune system with an antigen source for the induction of antitumor immunity. After ablation tumor antigens become instantly available for antigen presenting cells (APCs), and the procedure itself creates an inflammatory environment that may further initiate anti-tumor immunity. The involvement of immunological phenomena after RFA suggests that combining this technique with immunotherapy may be promising to prevent local recurrences and induce long-term systemic protection against residual disease (58).

Early studies showed that RFA destroys tumoral tissue generating a local necrosis followed by marked inflammatory response with a dense T-cell infiltrate. Twenty-four hours after ablation, CD3⁺ T cells infiltrated the hemorrhagic margin in the periphery of transplanted VX2 carcinomas in the liver of rabbits, and were present in the center of the tumor after 2 weeks. Increased levels of tumor-specific T cells were detected in peripheral (59). den Brok et al.. (60) showed that antigen-presenting dendritic cells are crucial for the induction of potent immune responses. Adoptive transfer experiments further indicated that antitumor reactivity could be transferred to naïve mice by splenocytes (60). RFA also elevated DCs in the tumor-draining lymph nodes, which expressed higher levels of co-stimulatory molecules than DCs in untreated mice, and the cells that took up tumor antigens were the ones that matured (60). A significant increase in tumor-specific class I and II responses to minor histocompatibility (HY) antigens and tumor regression was observed in animals treated with subtotal RF ablation. RFA in combination with intratumoral dendritic cells (ITDC) resulted in tumor regression. However, combination therapy did not enhance tumor regression when compared with either treatment alone. Rechallenged mice in RF ablation, ITDC, and combination

groups demonstrated significant tumor growth inhibition compared with controls (61).

3.2.3. Microwave ablation (MWA)

Microwave ablation is a special case of dielectric heating, where the dielectric material is tissue. Dielectric heating occurs when an alternating electromagnetic (EM) field is applied to an imperfect dielectric material. In tissue, heating occurs because the EM field forces water molecules in the tissue to oscillate. The bound water molecules tend to oscillate out of phase with the applied fields, so some of the EM energy is absorbed and converted to heat. The best EM absorbers contain a high percentage of water (e.g., most solid organs) while less heating occurs in tissues with low water content (e.g. fat). At microwave frequencies (typically 915 MHz or 2.4.5 GHz for ablative technologies), heating is more efficient in materials with a high conductivity. Microwaves are capable of propagating through materials with low or zero conductivity. This means that low-conductivity tissues inhibit RF current flow but allow better microwave propagation. This distinction between RF and microwave heating becomes more important as ablation of tissues outside of the liver becomes more common (62).

3.2.4. Laser induced ablation

Laser induced thermotherapy (LIT) uses optical fibers to deliver high-energy laser radiation to the target lesion. The mechanism of tumor destruction is temperature elevation within the tumor core (by the laser fiber) high enough to induce coagulation necrosis. Laser ablation was also designated as Focal laser ablation, photothermal therapy, laser interstitial therapy, and laser interstitial photocoagulation.

Selected tumors of liver CRC bearing mice and livers of mice without tumor induction were treated with laser ablation (LA). LA of the liver induced accumulation of CD3+ T-cells and Kupffer cells at the site of injury and systemic induction of immune responses as discerned by the presence of IFNy secreting splenocytes. LA of liver tumors induced significant increase of CD3+ T-cells at site of injury, within normal liver parenchyma, and the tumor-host interface of both ablated and distant tumors. In contrast Kupffer cells only accumulated in ablated tumors and the liver parenchyma but not in distant tumors (63).

3.2.5. High Intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU)

Ultrasound is a form of vibrational energy, which propagates as a mechanical wave by the motion of particles in the medium. The wave propagation leads to compressions and rarefactions of the particles, so that a pressure wave is transmitted along with the mechanical movement of the particles. The ultrasound beam propagates through the body, it loses energy due to ultrasonic attenuation in tissue, and the absorption of energy causes a local temperature rise in tissue if

the rate of heating exceeds the rate of cooling. The ultrasound beams transmitted through living tissue can be focused into a small volume with concentrated high-energy distribution within the human body. This makes it possible to use an external source of focused ultrasound for therapeutic purposes. If ultrasonic energy is sufficiently concentrated in a focal volume, it can cause thermal ablation of a targeted tissue volume by generating temperatures of up to 60 °C causing coagulative necrosis. HIFU also causes acoustic cavitation, which occurs when acoustic pressure causes expansion and contraction of gaseous nuclei in cells, thereby leading to the collapse of the cell and nuclear membranes, the mitochondria and the endoplasmic reticulum. This technique is known as high intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) or focused ultrasound surgery (FUS). It provides a noninvasive method of selective tissue ablation at depth without any damage to surrounding or overlying tissues (64).

Early studies indicated that HIFU treatment might stimulate host anti-tumor immunity and render mice resistant to the treated tumor (65). Studies in animal models showed that HIFU treatment could induce an enhanced CTLs activity in vivo, thus provides protection against subsequent tumor re-challenge (66). In addition, HIFU could upregulate in vitro and ex vitro molecule expression of HSP70 (67, 68), which are intracellular molecular chaperones that can enhance tumor cell immunogenicity, resulting in potent cellular immune responses. M-HIFU combined with surgery were found to significantly stimulate anti-tumor immunity against a transplanted prostate tumors, down-regulate intra-tumoral STAT3 activities, increase cytotoxic T cells in spleens and tumor draining lymph nodes (TDLNs), and improve the host survival. (69). HIFU ablation significantly increased the cytotoxicity of cytotoxic T lymphocytes, IFN-v and TNF-α secretion, and the frequency of the MHC class I tetramer/CD8-positive cells. A stronger inhibition of tumor progression and higher survival rates were observed to be significant after adoptive immunotherapy in the HIFU group as compared to the sham-HIFU and control groups (70). Another way of achieving anti-cancer immune responses is by using ultrasound (US) in combination with microbubbles and nanobubbles to deliver genes and antigens into cells. US leads to bubble destruction and the forces released to direct delivery of the substances into the cytoplasm of the cells thus circumventing the natural barriers (for review see: 71).

Summary of pre-clinical data shows a link between HIFU- treatment and enhanced host antitumor immunity and the possibility that this is also the case in cancer treated patients is supported by clinical data (For review see: 64, 72).

3.2.6. Cryoablation

Cryoablation is increasingly being used as a primary treatment for localized cancers and as a salvage

therapy for metastatic cancers. The cellular damage caused by cryoablation is the result of a combination of cellular events during cycles of tissue freezing and thawing. During freezing, decreased cellular metabolism causes tissue damage. Crystallization that occurs in the extracellular tissue and intracellular compartment disrupts organelle membranes and causes dehydration and further compromise in cellular function. During the thawing cycle the crystals coalesce into larger sizes, membranes are disrupted, and vessels occlude resulting in cell death (73).

Observations that distant untreated tumor foci began to regress after freezing a primary tumor lesion, pointed at the possibility that cryoablation can promote anti-tumor immunity. While most of the studies validated the ability of cryoablation to stimulate tumor recognition by the immune system, some studies demonstrated the opposite; tumor-bearing animals treated by cryoablation had diminished responses and increased tumor growth compared to controls. A comprehensive review of the history of cryosurgery for the treatment of cancer, the observations of distant tumor regression, the mechanisms by which cryoablation leads to cancer cell death, and how this can be altered by variations in cryosurgical technique. the pre-clinical data examining the relationship between cryoablation-induced cell death and both stimulatory and suppressive immune responses was published by M.S. Sabel (73). Another article reviews the preclinical and clinical evidence and discusses the mechanism of the antitumor immune response generated by cryoablation. The rationale and evidence behind several immunotherapy approaches that can be combined with cryoablation to devise a cryoimmunotherapeutic strategy with a potential to impact the progression of metastatic disease (74).

3.3. Electric based cancer ablation

Electric-based cancer ablation was developed for in situ ablation of solid tumors. Nordenstrom was the first to introduce tumor ablation by low-level direct electrical current as a palliative local treatment of solid tumors (75, 76). In later years the electric based treatments expanded and the electrical parameters used for treatment range from several volts per cm delivered for a long time period, to very high electric fields (up to 300 kV/cm). The treatment can be delivered as a continuous treatment or pulses. These treatments are either based on electro-stimulation alone or in conjunction with chemotherapeutic drugs. Low electric field or current treatments were designated as low-intensity electric fields (LIEF), electrochemical treatment (EChT), electrolytic ablation (EA) or Pulsed Electric current tumor ablation (LEFCT or PECTA). Additional electric-based tumor ablation treatments include the low-intensity alternating electric fields (TTFields), Electromagnetic radiation possessing extremely high frequency (EHF), the high voltage electroporation based treatments (Electroporation therapy (EPT), electrochemotherapy (ECT), or electrical

impulse chemotherapy (EIC), irreversible electroporation (IRE) and nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEF) (for review see: 76, 77).

As for other ablation treatments the in situ destruction of the primary tumor by electric ablation may release antigenic material from the tumor and render it more accessible to the host's immune response. The involvement of antitumor immunity in the regression of mouse tumor nodules following low-voltage electrotherapy, was reported in Balb/c mice and Balb/c nu/nu athymic mice with colon 26 cell or Meth A cell tumor nodules (78). We performed extensive studies on the activation of anti-tumor immunity following ablation of solid metastatic tumors with pulsed low electric fields and currents without or with chemotherapeutic agents. The treatment was applied against mouse metastatic tumors such as: breast carcinoma (DA3), colon carcinoma (CT-26), squamous cell carcinoma (SQ2), prostate cancer (TRAMP-C1), and melanoma (B16F10) (79). As a result of ablation anti-tumoral immunity developed in the cured mice that destroyed residual cancer cells, both at the primary tumor site and in metastatic foci (for review see: 36). The anti tumoral activity was mediated by both CD8 and CD4 lymphocytes (80).

Electrochemotherapy (ECT) using high electric fields is a local drug delivery approach aimed at treatment with palliative intent of cutaneous and subcutaneous tumor nodules of different histotypes (for review see: 81). The first indication for a possible involvement of immune mechanisms in the eradication of the tumor by high voltage ECT came from studies, which showed that ECT successfully cured a higher ratio of tumors in immunocompetent mice than in immunodeficient nude mice, suggesting the involvement of the immune response in the effect of the treatment (82).

A similar ablation treatment, which is already in clinical use is Irreversible electroporation (IRE), IRE achieves cell death within the targeted tissue through a series of short duration pulsed high voltage electric fields that elevate the transmembrane potentials to an extent that permanently damages the lipid bilayers throughout the treated region (83, 84). Direct IRE completely ablated the tumor cells of a rat osteosarcoma. A significant increase in peripheral lymphocytes, especially CD3(+) and CD4(+) cells, as well as an increased ratio of CD4(+)/CD8(+) and increased percentage of IFN- γ -positive splenocytes was observed. Compared with the surgical resection group, the IRE group exhibited a stronger cellular immune response (85).

Over the last decade, nanosecond pulsed electric fields of (nsPEFs) have shown promise in pre-clinical studies. Non-thermal nanosecond pulsed electric field (nsPEF) therapy (30kV/cm) completely ablates UV-induced murine melanomas over a period

of 12-29 days. In a melanoma allograft system, nsPEF treatment was superior to tumor excision at accelerating secondary tumor rejection in immune-competent mice, suggesting enhanced stimulation of a protective immune response by nsPEF-treated melanomas. This is also supported by the presence of CD4(+) -T cells within treated tumors (86). Similar results were reported when an orthotopic hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) model in rats was treated with nsPEFs (50kV/cm). Tumours treated with nsPEFs expressed a significant number of cells with active caspase-3 and caspase-9, but not caspase-8, indicating an intrinsic apoptosis mechanism(s) as well as caspase-independent mechanisms. Rats with successfully ablated tumours failed to re-grow tumours when challenged with a second injection of N1-S1 cells. Infiltration of immune cells and the presence of granzyme B expressing cells within days of treatment suggest the possibility of an anti-tumour adaptive immune response (87).

3.4. Photodynamic therapy

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) is a clinically established modality for the treatment of cancerous and other diseased tissue by targeted activation of a photoreactive drug with light to generate cytotoxic reactive oxygen species in targeted lesions. Destruction of tumors or other targeted lesions by PDT is initiated by the administration of photosensitizing drugs such as Porfimer sodium (Photofrin) (HPD), 5-aminolevulinic acid (ALA), Temoporfin (Foscan) (mTHPC), compounds capable of capturing the energy of light at wavelengths of optimal tissue penetration (88). Absorbing the light energy transforms the photosensitizer molecule from its ground singlet state to an electronically excited singlet state and interacts with molecular oxygen that gets converted to highly reactive excited single state of oxygen. Singlet oxygen generated by PDT reacts rapidly and avidly with electron rich regions of lipids, proteins and other cell biomolecules producing oxidized species and crosslinking of polypeptides. The anti-tumor action of PDT is based on tumor cell killing by the direct phototoxic effect. and destruction of blood vessels, which causes death of tumor cells from hypoxia and starvation.

This therapeutic modality is now considered a treatment of choice for malignant and premalignant non-melanoma skin lesions, and an attractive option for a variety of other cancers including head and neck tumors, gastrointestinal malignancies, prostate and bladder cancers, early-stage lung cancer and malignant pleural mesothelioma, brain tumors, and intraperitoneal malignancies and can prolong survival in patients with inoperable cancers and significantly improve quality of life (89). Other types of therapeutic strategies using light to irradiate photosensible substances (PSs) include, in addition to photodynamic therapy (PDT), also photothermal therapy (PTT) and photoimmunotherapy (PIT). The main difference between PIT and PDT is that

in PIT, monoclonal antibodies (MABs) are associated to PSs to improve the selective binding of the PSs to the target tissues (90).

PDT produces damage at the treated site and rapid strong acute inflammatory reaction is provoked. This inflammatory process is integrated with acute phase response and other supporting host response processes. PDT is particularly effective in generating damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (89). Endogenous molecules such as heat shock proteins, calreticulin, phosphatidylserine, lysophosphatidylcholine, sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), extracellular matrix components, fibrinogen and high-mobility group box-1 protein may function as DAMPs. Binding of DAMPs on pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) triggers signal transduction pathways leading to leukocyte recruitment and activation of inflammatory and adaptive immune responses.

Changes in tumor microenvironment associated with the execution of these host-protecting responses trigger the development of adaptive immune response specific for the antigens of PDT-treated tumor (91). Early studies demonstrated that immune cells are essential for preventing the recurrence of tumors following the PDT treatment, and they include host lymphoid populations (92), neutrophils, cytolytic T cells, helper T cells and macrophages (93). In a later study, it was shown that a PDT regimen that induced a high level of neutrophilic infiltrate generated tumor-specific primary and memory CD8(+) T-cell responses. In contrast, immune cells isolated from mice treated with a PDT regimen that induced little or no neutrophilic infiltrate exhibited minimal antitumor immunity. These findings indicate that tumor-infiltrating neutrophils play an essential role in establishment of antitumor immunity following PDT (94).

The application of a novel photosensitizing methodology: vascular-targeted photodynamic therapy (VTP) also stimulated anti tumor immune response. This modality uses as a sensitizer Pd-bacteriochlorophyll and consequent spectral wavelength in the near infrared. The targets of VTP are the tumor-feeding arteries and draining veins whose almost instant occlusion (minutes) leads to tumor blood stasis and eradication (95).

Recently, photodynamic therapy (PDT) utilizing the photosensitizer, hypericin (Hyp), was characterized to stimulate anti-tumor immunity by inducing bona fide immunogenic cell death (ICD) (96). This led to the development of PDT vaccine protocols in which the patient is administered with a fragment of his tumor that was treated by PDT ex vivo. Such autologous whole-cell vaccines are optimally conditioned to target individualized, pertinent and even unique antigens in a patient-specific manner involving patient-matched MHC for recognition of tumor epitopes (97).

3.5. Chemical ablation and targeted therapy 3.5.1. Chemotherapy

Unlike other *in situ* ablation treatments chemotherapy is mostly given as a systemic treatment with a primary goal to kill cells, which spread out in the body. It is evident that chemotherapeutic drugs can either counteract the activity of immune response components or exhibit activities, which promote or complement antitumor immune reactivity. Chemotherapeutic drugs can:

- Kill tumor cells and release tumor antigens and danger signals, which can activate anti-tumor immunity
- Inhibit immunosuppressive cells such as regulatory T cells and myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC).
- Stimulate CD8 lymphocytes and manipulate dendritic cells.
- Increase the susceptibility of tumor cells to immune attack.

Early studies showed that DCs could collaborate with chemotherapy (mitomycin C) -induced apoptotic CT26 tumor cells and elicit improved antitumor immunity, probably through the acquisition of tumor-associated antigens from apoptotic tumor cells. Immunization of tumor bearing mice with DCs and apoptotic CT26 cells, but not with apoptotic CT26 alone, gave protection against tumor challenge. CT26 challenge was also rejected in 50% of the mice injected with mitomycin alone. A significantly higher level of cytotoxic T-cell activity and interferon-gamma production was seen in the protected mice (98).

Later studies revealed that chemotherapy could induce various tumor cell death modalities including 'immunogenic cell death', which leads to the delivery of a broad range of tumor-associated antigens and can trigger immune releasing tumor-derived antigen as well as danger signals. Cancer cells succumbing to anthracyclines (such as doxorubicin and mitoxantrone), oxaliplatin or ionizing irradiation can elicit vigorous anticancer immune responses when they are injected subcutaneously, in the absence of any adjuvant, into syngeneic immunocompetent mice (99, 100). The efficiency of anthracycline- and oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy against established tumors is lost when essential components of the immune system such as interferon-γ (IFN-γ), interleukin-1β (IL-1β) or their receptors are blocked by antibodies or eliminated by knockout technology (101, 102) ((For review see also: 24, 103-105). Chemotherapy-induced cell death deliver 'danger signals' that stimulate antigen-presenting cells such as dendritic cells to efficiently take up tumor antigens, process them, and cross-prime cytotoxic T lymphocytes, thus eliciting a tumor-specific cognate immune response. These include the pre-apoptotic exposure of calreticulin, release of HMGB1, ATP and HSPs, which can augment specific antitumor immune responses by enhancing antigen cross-presentation and

DC activation, and DNA-damage responses, which can activate innate immune responses (106, 107).

As stated previously, antitumor immunity driven by intratumoral dendritic cells contributes to the efficacy of anthracycline-based chemotherapy in cancer. It was recently reported that tumor-bearing mice deficient in the formyl peptide receptor 1 (FPR1), Fpr1(-/-), which is binding annexin-1, exhibited an impaired anti tumor immune response after treatment with anthracycline. The effect was attributed to the failure of Fpr1-deficient dendritic cells to process dying cancer cells. In this respect, Loss-of-function allele of the gene coding for formyl peptide receptor 1 (FPR1) was associated with poor metastasis-free and overall survival in breast and colorectal cancer patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy (108).

Anti tumor cytotoxic drugs can also modulate the immune response by directly affecting the function of immune cells. Chemotherapeutic drugs such as cyclophosphamide can boost anti tumor immunity by inhibiting regulatory T cells (109) or MDSC (taxol, gemcitabine) (110). Chemotherapy such as docetaxel has the ability to modulate components of the immune system independent of antitumor activity. Studies in a preclinical model showed for the first time that docetaxel modulates CD4+, CD8+, CD19+, natural killer cell, and Treg populations in non-tumor-bearing mice. Docetaxel combined with recombinant viral vaccine was superior to either agent alone at reducing tumor burden, and docetaxel plus vaccine increases antigen-specific T-cell responses to antigen in the vaccine, as well as to antigens derived from the tumor (111). Another type of effect was exhibited by gemcitabine who reversed the defect in Ag cross-presentation of tumor infiltrating CD11b(+) DCs in a murine mesothelioma tumor AB1-HA model, rendering them able to induce tumor-specific T-cell activation or proliferation (112).

3.5.2. Targeted therapy

Targeted therapies such as anti-HER2 (trastuzumab), inhibitors of BCR-ABL translocation (imatinib), BRAFV600E mutation (Vemurafenib), EGFR mutation (erlotinib and gefitinib) and EML4-ALK fusion (crizotinib), which are now in clinical use in many solid tumors and haematological malignancies can produce tumor regression. It may be conceived that such agents can modulate the immune response by various mechanisms, such as release of antigens and danger signals from dead or dying cells and improved delivery of tumor antigen for presentation, affect immunosuppressive cells such as MDSCs or Tregs, as well effector T cells and DCs (107).

Imatinib mesylate (Gleevec), the tyrosine kinase inhibitor of KIT, PDGFR, ABL and BCR-ABL, exhibits improved survival benefit in patients with

advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST). In mice, a combination of imatinib and IL-2 resulted in the expansion of a population of effector cells that shared properties of both NK myeloid DCs and produce IFN-y. These CD11c+ B220+ NK1.1.+ IKDCs, were able to lyse various target cells in the absence of NKG2D ligands or MHC class I molecules. Adoptive transfer of IKDCs but not B220- NK cells delayed tumor growth (113). Balachandran et al. (114) demonstrated the pre-existing role of CD8+ -mediated immune response, which is enhanced by imatinib therapy. In a model of transgenic GIST mice that develop spontaneous GIST, treatment with imatinib resulted in an increase in CD8+ T cell frequency, proliferation, activation as well as cytolytic capacity within the tumor and an increase in tumor-specific CD8+ T cells within the draining, but not the non-draining lymph nodes. and induced apoptosis of Tregs. A synergistic effect was seen in mouse GIST treated with imatinib and CTLA-4 blocking antibody compared to either drug alone. Finally, the authors demonstrated that in 36 patients undergoing surgery followed by either imatinib therapy or observation a greater frequency of CD8+, but lower of Tregs and of IDO mRNA was found in sensitive tumors compared to resistant tumors, therefore correlating with the preclinical data in mouse GIST.

Treatment of 16 patients with metastatic melanoma with either BRAF inhibitor alone (Vemurafenib) alone or BRAF + MEK inhibition (dabrafenib + trametinib) was associated with an increased expression of melanoma antigens and an increase in CD8+ T-cell infiltrate in tumor biopsies. This was also associated with a decrease in immunosuppressive cytokines (interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-8) and an increase in markers of T-cell cytotoxicity. Markers of T-cell exhaustion and the immunosuppressive ligand PDL1 are also increased with BRAF inhibition, further implying that immune checkpoint blockade may be critical in augmenting responses to BRAF-targeted therapy in patients with melanoma (115).

It has recently become apparent that upon oncogene inactivation, the immune response is critical in mediating the phenotypic consequences of oncogene addiction. In particular, CD4(+) T cells have been suggested to be essential to the remodeling of the tumor microenvironment, including the shutdown of host angiogenesis and the induction of cellular senescence in the tumor. Hence, oncogene inactivation may be an effective therapeutic approach because it both reverses the neoplastic state within a cancer cell and reactivates the host immune response (116).

3.6. Surgery

Results suggested that tumor resection not only led to the reversal of immune suppression, but also unmasked a population of primed T cells able to mediate protective immunity. To test this, mice were inoculated

s.c. with CMS5 cells and after 28 days the tumors were resected. A gradual normalization of the cellular phenotype of the spleen was observed. In particular, there was a decrease in the number of Mac1+/Gr1(high) cells and an increase in the number of CD3+ cells in the spleen within 24-48 h of tumor resection. By day 10, these values were normal. The functional implications of these changes were illustrated by the reduced growth rate or the complete rejection of a challenge of tumor cells in the resected mice. Both CD4+ and CD8+ cells were involved in the restoration of tumor immunity (117). In the breast carcinoma model, 4T1, cell-mediated and humoral adaptive immunity, as measured by rejection of allogeneic tumor, antigen-specific T-cell proliferation, and antigen-specific antibody responses, were suppressed in 4T1-bearing mice relative to tumor-free mice. Surgical removal of the primary tumor resulted in rebounding of antibody and cell-mediated responses, even in mice with metastatic disease. Macrophage activity and dendritic cell function were not suppressed in the tumor-bearing mice (118).

4. COMBINATION OF ABLATION AND IMMUNO-MANIPULATION TO REINFORCE THE IMMUNE RESPONSE

Tumor ablation by various methods can trigger an immune response against the tumor as outlined in the previous section. However ablation alone rarely induces effective anti-tumor immunity resulting in systemic tumor rejection. Immunotherapy can complement ablation to reinforce the anti-tumor immunity to better eradicate residual local and metastatic tumor cells. Various methods and agents were used to manipulate the immune response in combination with tumor ablation, and they can be divided into three major categories:

- Agents, which stimulate immune response components. These include microbial or chemical immunoadjuvants, tumor vaccines, and cytokines. Such immunostimulators can promote the activity of dendritic cells and/or T lymphocytes.
- Agents that inhibit cells and molecules, which suppress anti-tumor immune responses. These include agents, which inhibit the function or deplete immune suppressor cells such as myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) or regulatory T cells (Tregs), or inhibitors of the suppressive function of immunological checkpoint molecules (CTLA-4, PD-1, PDL-1).
- Adoptive transfer of anti-tumor T lymphocytes or antibodies.

Pre-clinical and emerging clinical evidence on combinations of ablation methods and immune modulating agents, capable of potentiating the immune response in the treatment of cancer in order to maximize cancer elimination and the prevention of escape mechanisms were previously published (21, 119).

4.1. Agents, which stimulate immune response components: Microbial or chemical immunoadjuvants, dendritic cells, cytokines and tumor vaccines

4.1.1. Immunoadjuvants

When a cell dies as the result of infection, the immune system responds rapidly and the system of Toll-like receptors (TLR) plays a key role in this process. Ligation of Toll-like receptors results in the induction of strong immune responses that may be directed against tumor-associated antigens. Unmethylated CpG-containing oligodeoxynucleotides are strong TLR agonists and activators of anti tumor immunity and of dendritic cell function (120).

CpG was used in many studies in combination with almost all ablation modalities and was found to significantly boost the anti-tumor immune response triggered by the destruction of the tumor by ablation. Unmethylated CpG-containing oligodeoxynucleotides (ODNs) enhanced the antitumor efficacy of chemotherapy (coramsine) (121). The intracellular signaling pathways that link TLR ligation with immune activation and where and how TLRs recognize their targets were addressed in the following article (122).

Further studies showed synergistic effects of gamma radiation and TLR-targeted immunotherapies in the treatment of cancer (123). Using our alpha-radiation-based ablation strategy, diffusing alpha-emitters radiation therapy (DaRT), to destroy local CT26 and DA3 tumors in combination with CpG resulted in a better control of the primary tumor and rendered the animals resistant to a re-inoculated tumor (37).

Electrochemotherapy (ECT) of tumors induced a massive recruitment of CD11c and CD11b positive cells in the tumors and a strong increase of TLR9 expression. ECT followed by the TLR-9 ligands, CpG oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG ODN), triggered both potent local synergistic antitumor effects, on the ipsi-lateral ECT-treated tumor, and a systemic antitumor response on the contra-lateral untreated tumor, in three tumor models. The systemic protection was T-cell dependent and was not observed in nude mice (124).

Treatment with photodynamic therapy (PDT) alone is often non-curative due to tumor-induced immune cell dysfunction and immune suppression. PDT mediated by verteporfin in combination with CpG oligodeoxynucleotides, for the treatment of 4T1 metastatic breast cancer in a BALB/c immunocompetent mouse model, gave improved local tumor control and a survival advantage compared to either treatment alone (125).

A combination treatment of cryoablation plus TLR9 stimulation via CpG-oligodeoxynucleotides was far more effective in the eradication of local and

systemic tumors than either treatment modality alone. Analysis of the underlying mechanism revealed that *in situ* tumor ablation synergizes with TLR9 stimulation to induce DC maturation and efficient cross-presentation in tumor-bearing mice, leading to superior DC function *in vivo* (126).

An innovative approach reported that Nearlight-responsive inorganic nanoparticles infrared enhanced the efficacy of cancer photothermal ablation therapy. The design is based on chitosan-coated hollow copper sulfide (CuS) nanoparticles that assemble the immunoadjuvants oligodeoxynucleotides containing the cytosine-guanine (CpG) motifs. In this approach, photothermal ablation-induced tumor cell death reduced tumor growth and released tumor antigens into the surrounding milieu, while the immunoadjuvants potentiate host antitumor immunity. The results indicated that combined photothermal immunotherapy is more effective than either immunotherapy or photothermal therapy alone against primary treated and distant untreated tumors in a mouse breast cancer model (127).

The immunostimulant OK-432 was also tested in combination with ablation. Radiofrequency ablation of lung tumors in rabbits in combination with OK-432, prolongs survival, inhibited the growth of metastases and stimulated anti-tumor immunity (128, 129).

Non-microbial adjuvants were also effective in enhancing tumor ablation triggered anti tumor immunity. Saponin-based adjuvants and *in situ* tumor ablation, created a highly effective vaccine. Draining lymph node CD11c+ DCs acquired antigens more efficiently and become increasingly activated following ablation with saponin adjuvants relative to ablation alone (130). Laser induced photothermal ablation in combination with a local injection of an immunoadjuvant that consists of a semi-synthetic functionalized glucosamine polymer, N-dihydro-galacto-chitosan (GC), was also applied. This strategy proposed as an *in situ* autologous cancer vaccine (inCVAX) for the treatment of metastatic cancers was found to induce anti tumor immunity (131).

Immunostimulation not always boost the immune response after tumor ablation. Cryosurgical ablation of the normal rat ventral prostate and intraprostatic Complete Freund's Adjuvant (CFA), does not protect against and can enhance the tumorigenicity of MatLyLu prostatic cancer cells at distant sites. This could be occurring through specific immunologic effects or non-specific mechanisms induced by cryosurgery and CFA (132). Toll like receptors may not always help to cure cancer. Gao et al. reported a novel Toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) dependent mechanism that initiated tumor regrowth after local radiotherapy. Systemic inhibition of TLR9, but not TLR4, delayed tumor recurrence in mouse models of B16 melanoma, MB49 bladder cancer,

and CT26 colon cancer after localized high-dose tumor irradiation. The tumorigenic effects of TLR9 depended on MyD88/NF-κB-mediated upregulation of interleukin (IL)-6 expression, which in turn resulted in downstream activation of Jak/STAT3 signaling in myeloid cells (133).

4.1.2. Dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DC) are professional antigenpresenting cells that play a pivotal role in the induction of immunity. Dendritic cells control the initiation of stimulatory and regulatory immune responses. They are strategically located within tissues and continuously sample the microenvironment, displaying their internalized cargo on their cell surface. Activation of DC or facilitation of DC recruitment and function can promote anti-tumor responses initiated by tumor ablation.

HIFU treatment can cause the release of endogenous danger signals (ATP and hsp60) and exposure of dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages to the supernatants of HIFU-treated tumor cells leads to an increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules (CD80 and CD86) with enhanced secretion of IL-12 by the DCs and elevated secretion of TNF-alpha by the macrophages (134). Loading of DCs with tumor debris from ultrasound ablated tumors induced maturation of DCs, and increased cytotoxicity and TNF-α and IFN-γ secretion by CTL, thus initiating host specific immune response after tumor cell challenge in the vaccinated mice (135). It was suggested that the efficacy of HIFU cancer treatment in enhancing the host's anti-tumor immunity is closely related to dendritic cell activation (136). Furthermore, tumour destruction by radiofrequency ablation and cryoablation, elevated the numbers of antigen containing DC in the draining lymph node (LN), and both destruction methods were able to induce DC maturation (137).

Treatment of local murine Lewis lung carcinoma, D122-luc-5.5. tumors with cryoablation and inoculation of immature DCs with administration of the immune adjuvant, CpG oligodeoxynucleotides resulted in reduced tumor growth, low metastasis and significantly prolonged survival (138). RFA of subcutaneous colon cancer cell (MC38) tumors, and then OK-432-stimulated DCs injected locally, strongly inhibited tumor growth as compared to mice treated with RFA alone or treatment involving immature DC transfer. The antitumor effect of this treatment depended on both CD8-positive and CD4-positive cells (139).

4.1.3. Cytokines and growth factors

Immunostimulation can be achieved by various cytokines and growth factors. Thus, several cytokines, mainly IL-2, were used to boost anti tumor immunity triggered by ablation.

In view of the reports that tumor ablation by electrochemotherapy (ECT) can trigger anti-tumor

immune responses, attempts were made to enforce this response by IL-2 in order to achieve higher cure rates. An increase of the rate of completely cured animals was achieved by injecting mice with interleukin-2 (IL-2) and ECT (140). The next step was to use ECT, which causes short-term complete regressions of treated tumors but no resistance to challenge, was combined with plasmid delivery encoding for IL-2. The combination treatment resulted in the induction of long-term immunity to recurrence and resistance to challenge in up to 25% of mice (141). Another cytokine, which increased the systemic antitumor effectiveness of electrochemotherapy, was IL-12. Therefore, it was proposed to treat by electrochemotherapy with peritumoral IL-12 electrotransfer (142).

Enhanced systemic antitumor immunity was also achieved by RFA + IL-2 therapy of human head and neck cancer in a murine orthotopic model. The combined treatment induced the highest levels of macrophage recruitment and dendritic cell migration resulting in enhanced CTL activity, increased tumor apoptosis, and the best inhibition of tumor growth among all groups (143). Similar effects were observed by treatment of mice bearing subcutaneous tumors with RFA and huKS-IL2. The combination attained significantly greater tumor growth suppression and enhanced survival compared with mice treated with RFA or huKS-IL2 alone (144).

A combination treatment of radiation and IL-3 gene-transduced irradiated tumor cell vaccines of established immunogenic (FSAR) and non-immunogenic (FSAN) tumors enhanced the efficacy of the IL-3 vaccine by decreasing tumor burden. Systemic IL-3 vaccine treatment increased intratumoral levels of intercellular adhesion molecule-1, Mac-1, EB22/5.3., tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and IL-1 mRNA in irradiated tumors, indicating that cellular infiltration was part of the response (145). In another study a combination of radiotherapy and growth factor Flt3-Ligand (Flt3-L) of 67NR tumors, impaired the growth of non-irradiated tumors in the same animal. This abscopal effect was shown to be tumor specific, and immunologically controlled since no growth delay of non-irradiated 67NR tumors was observed when T cell deficient (nude) mice were treated with RT plus Flt3-L (32).

Ablation and combinations immunostimulatory measures were also tested. Local hyperthermia (43.7.°) and intratumoral dendritic cell and/or systemic granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (adenovirus-expressing murine GM-CSF), applied in a syngeneic murine model of prostate cancer (RM-1) resulted in significant tumor growth delays when compared with animal cohorts that received hyperthermia alone (146).

4.1.4. Tumor vaccines

Tumor ablation and tumor vaccines were also combines in an attempt to achieve a better control of

metastatic cancer. RFA induced immunogenic modulation on the surface of tumor cells and increased T-cell responses to CEA and additional TAAs. Combination therapy with RFA and a poxviral vaccine expressing CEA and a TRIad of COstimulatory Molecules (CEA/TRICOM) in CEA-transgenic mice induced a synergistic increase in CD4(+) T-cell immune responses to CEA and eradicated both primary CEA(+) and distal CEA(-) subcutaneous tumors. Sequential administration of low-dose and highdose RFA with vaccine decreased tumor recurrence compared to RFA alone (147). In a recent review it was suggested that the immune-mediated distant bystander (abscopal) effects of RT could be enhanced when combined with autologous whole-tumor-cellbased vaccines generated by high hydrostatic pressure technology (148).

4.2. Agents that inhibit immunosuppressive cells and molecules

Most of the anti tumor immune reactions are rather weak and are counteracted by immunosuppressive activities. In order to rescue the anti tumor immune responses attempts are made to deplete the immunosuppressive functions by the use of agents, which inhibit the function or deplete immune suppressor cells such as myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) or regulatory T cells (Tregs), or inhibitors of the suppressive function of immunological checkpoint molecules.

4.2.1. Inhibition or depletion of MDSC and/or tregs

Host immune cells with a suppressive phenotype represent a significant hurdle to successful immunotherapy of metastatic cancer. The function of suppressor cells, which facilitate tumor growth and confer immune tolerance against the tumor, was already suggested in 1972 (for review see 149), and their elimination by radiation was postulated to boost anti-tumor immunity (150). Among the suppressor cells, Tregs and MDSC are significantly increased in hosts with advanced malignancies (151, 152). Tumor-derived immunosuppression constantly diminishes anti-tumor immune responses; therefore, therapies neutralizing immunosuppression should be given before vaccination and continued throughout treatment.

Tregs, in most cancers, play a central role in contributing to the progression of the disease (153). Thus, suppression mechanisms mediated by Tregs are thought to contribute significantly to the failure of current therapies that rely on induction or potentiating of antitumor responses (154). MDSCs are a heterogeneous population of immature myeloid cells that are increased in many cancer types. MDSCs play a central role in suppression of host immune system through mechanisms such as arginase1, release of immune-suppressive factors such as ROS, NO and cytokines (151). Elimination of Tregs (155, 156) or MDSCs (157, 158)

was found to be essential for an effective anti-tumor immunotherapy. MDSC depletion was associated with restoration of immune dysfunction in hepatocellular carcinoma patients (159) suggesting that their inhibition might improve the control of cancer development.

Thus, inhibition of MDSC or Tregs or both in combination with ablation methods, which stimulate anti-tumor immunity, was tested for improved control of residual local and systemic disease, and enforcement of anti tumor immunity.

Inhibition of MDSC with a selective blocker of CSF1 receptor together with gamma radiotherapy suppressed tumor growth more effectively than irradiation alone (160). The possible role of MDSC in the outcome of tumor ablation was pointed out by the study, which showed that increased MDSC-related functions are an early indicator for incomplete radiofrequency ablation of NSCLC (161).

Inhibition of Tregs was applied in combination of different ablation methods. Photodynamic therapy in combination with low-dose cyclophosphamide (CY) (but not high-dose CY) increased long-term survival and complete cure of tumor bearing animals. Low-dose CY alone gave no permanent cures but did provide a survival advantage and was shown to reduce CD4+FoxP3+ Tregs in lymph nodes, whereas high-dose CY reduced other lymphocyte classes as well. A high percentage of the cured animals rejected a tumor rechallenge (162, 163). Treg targeting together with tumor gamma-irradiation significantly reduced tumor burden and improved overall survival (164). When combined with Treg depletion, cryoablation was significantly more effective than either surgical excision or cautery at inducing systemic antitumor immunity, resulting in the cure of a fraction of animals with established metastatic disease and resistance to reiniection of tumor cells (165). In view of the findings that ablation-triggered anti tumor immunity can be improved by inhibition of Tregs or by immunoadjuvants led to combination treatments of the above treatments. Gamma-irradiation in combination with an immunostimulant and inhibitor of Tregs was reported to be the most effective treatment of a breast cancer (166). Regulatory T-cells (CD25+, Foxp3+) removal by low dose cyclophosphamide can also potentiate the PDT-induced immune response (163).

The observation that synergistic suppression of Tregs and MDSCs cells in mice with tumors promoted their anti-tumor immunity (167), and our previous demonstration that CpG can augment anti-tumor immunity in combination with alpha radiation mediated ablation (DaRT) (37), led us to attempt to maximize the anti-tumor immunity following ablation of the low immunogenic DA3 primary tumor by DaRT by adding CpG to inhibition of Tregs blow-dose cyclophosphamide

(CP) and MDSCs by phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE-5) inhibitor, sildenafil (168). This combined treatment was very effective in eliminating both primary tumors and lung metastases, was significantly more effective than CP alone or DaRT alone in blocking tumor growth and extending overall survival (unpublished results). These findings are corroborated by a clinical study which claims that the key mechanisms of augmenting the functions of adoptively transferred T cells by total body irradiation in melanoma patients include the depletion of Tregs and MDSCs and the activation of the innate immune system via Toll-like receptor 4 signaling (169).

4.2.2. Inhibitors of immune inhibitory pathways-checkpoint blockade

In recent years cancer immunotherapy gained momentum when the therapeutic benefit of monoclonal antibodies against immune checkpoints (CTLA-4/CD80/CD86 and PD-1/PDL-1) was reported. Activating the immune system was demonstrated by the ability of the anti-CTLA4 antibody, ipilimumab, to achieve a significant increase in survival for patients with metastatic melanoma, for which conventional therapies have failed. These successes suggest that active immunotherapy represents a path to obtain a durable and long-lasting response in cancer patients (For review see 26, 170). As a follow up the beneficial anti-tumor effects of combining checkpoint inhibitors with various ablation modalities were examined.

CTLA-4 blockade was the most tested treatment and was used in combination with radiofrequency ablation, cryoablation, thermo ablation, radiation and chemotherapy.

Immune responses induced by thermoablation are mostly weak and not sufficient for complete eradication of established tumors or durable prevention of disease progression. The following studies reveal that combination therapies with immunomodulating drugs and thermal ablations were evaluated with promising results.

An early report stated that treatment of murine B16-OVA melanoma cell derived tumors by RFA and a blocking monoclonal antibody against cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 augmented the anti tumor effect of splenocytes from the treated animals in adoptive transfer experiments, and resulted in long-lasting tumor protection (60). Further studies showed that RFA and cryoablation can be efficiently combined with immune modulation by anti-CTLA-4 antibodies or regulatory T-cell depletion. These combination treatments protected mice from the outgrowth of tumour challenges, and led to in vivo enhancement of tumour-specific T-cell numbers. which produced more IFN-gamma upon activation (126). Similarly, the co-administration of microwave thermal ablation, GM-CSF microspheres, and anti-CTLA-4 rejected tumour rechallenge in 90% of treated mice in

a subcutaneous murine Hepa 1-6 model, and cured established distant tumour in 50% of the treated mice. This anti-tumour immune response was tumour-specific and mediated by natural killer (NK), CD4+, and CD8+ T cells (171). Cryoablation of TRAMP C2 mouse model of prostate cancer did not confer protection against a tumor challenge but a combination treatment with anti-CTLA-4 was sufficient to slow growth or trigger rejection. In addition, secondary tumors were highly infiltrated by CD4(+) T cells and CD8(+) T cells, and there was a significant increase in the ratio of intratumoral T effector cells to CD4(+)FoxP3(+) T regulatory cells, compared with monotherapy (172).

Radiation potentiates the effect of immune therapy via induction of autophagy and resultant trafficking of mannose-6-phopsphate receptor (MPR) to the cell surface. Radiation-induced MPR up-regulation was the result of redistribution of the receptor to the cell surface. This effect was caused by autophagy with redirection of MPR to autophagosomes in a clathrindependent manner. Down-regulation of MPR in tumor cells with shRNA completely abrogated the combined effect of XRT and immunotherapy (CTLA4 antibody) in B16F10-bearing mice without changes in the tumorspecific responses of T cells (173). A recent review summarizes preclinical and clinical data demonstrating that radiation acts in concert with antibodies targeting the immune checkpoint cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4), to induce therapeutically effective anti-tumor T cell responses in tumors otherwise non responsive to anti-CTLA-4 therapy (174).

The data indicating that chemotherapy killed tumour cells, engage with anti tumour immune responses (as discussed in section 3) suggested the development of new protocols combining chemotherapy with inhibition of immunological checkpoint molecules. Chemotherapy was used with inhibitors of various immunological checkpoints with promising results.

It was suggested to combine chemotherapy with anti-CD40 antibodies, to gain therapeutic synergy with general applicability to many cancer types (22). A combination of immunotherapy (CD40 ligation using FGK45) with gemcitabine to treat established solid tumors induced long-term cures in < or =80% of mice. and all of the cured mice were resistant to tumor rechallenge. It was associated with an increase in both CD4 and CD8 T-cell infiltration of the tumor. CD8 T cells but not CD4 T cells were required for the success of this treatment regimen (175). Further studies indicated that partial surgical debulking followed by combination chemotherapy (gemcitabine) and anti CD-40 antibodies elicited the same proportion of cured animals as complete resection, but in contrast to complete resection, a memory response was invoked (176). Thus, anti-CD40 antibody provides an ideal therapy for combination

with traditional cancer treatments (i.e., chemotherapy, surgery) in order to elicit immune-mediated anti-tumor effects. The mechanisms of action of agonistic anti-CD40, the use of mouse models to investigate its effects and combinations with other therapies *in vivo*, and current clinical trials combining humanized anti-CD40 antibody with chemotherapy and/or other immunotherapies were hence summarized (177).

Treatment with chemotherapy (gemcitabine) in combination with CTLA-4 blockade also exhibited tumor regression and long-term protective immunity in mice bearing non-immunogenic murine tumor. Depletion experiments demonstrated that both CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells are required for optimal therapeutic effect (178).

CD47 is another candidate for collaboration with ablation treatments to boost anti tumor immunity and control metatstatic cancer. CD47 is a widely expressed cell surface protein that functions as a regulator of phagocytosis mediated by cells of the innate immune system, such as macrophages and dendritic cells, CD47 serves as the ligand for a receptor on these innate immune cells, SIRP-alpha, which in turn delivers an inhibitory signal for phagocytosis. It was suggested that CD47 might serve as another checkpoint molecule and as a target for checkpoint inhibition therapy (179). An extensive study reported that blocking CD47 in the context of radiotherapy enhances antitumor immunity by directly stimulating CD8(+) cytotoxic T cells, with the potential to increase curative responses. Combining CD47 blockade with irradiation did not affect fibrosarcoma growth in T celldeficient mice, whereas adoptive transfer of tumor-specific CD8(+) T cells restored combinatorial efficacy. In CD47deficient syngeneic hosts, engrafted B16 melanomas were 50% more sensitive to irradiation, establishing that CD47 expression in the microenvironment was sufficient to limit tumor radiosensitivity. Mechanistic investigations revealed increased tumor infiltration by cytotoxic CD8(+) T cells in a CD47-deficient microenvironment, with an associated increase in T cell-dependent intratumoral expression of granzyme B. Correspondingly, an inverse correlation between CD8(+) T-cell infiltration and CD47 expression was observed in human melanomas (180).

Lately appeared a report about a humanized anti-CD47 antibody, 5F9, with potent efficacy and favorable toxicokinetic properties as a candidate therapeutic. Hu5F9-G4 induced potent macrophagemediated phagocytosis of primary human AML cells *in vitro* and completely eradicated human AML *in vivo*, leading to long-term disease-free survival of patient-derived xenografts (181).

4.3. Adoptive transfer of T cells

Bear and colleagues (182) characterized the immune effects of AuNP mediated photothermal therapy (PTT) and explored this modality in combination with

adoptive T cell therapy. PTT was delivered by optically tuned gold nanoshells that generate heat upon exposure to near infrared radiation. PTT of B16 melanoma induced an immune response with anti-tumor activity. Importantly, however, the anti-tumor activity appeared dependent on distant tumor location; tumors located subcutaneously shrunk while those in the lungs grew after PTT of a primary site. PTT of the primary tumor promoted the infiltration of secondary tumor sites by CD11b(+)Ly-6G/C(+) myeloid-derived cells, consequently failing to slow the growth of poorly immunogenic B16-F10 tumors and enhancing the growth of distant lung metastases. This growth appeared to be induced by an inflammatory response to PTT that caused a systemic increase in immune suppressive myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and this effect was counter-acted with the combination with adoptive T cell therapy. The combination of local control by PTT and systemic antitumor immune reactivity provided by adoptively transferred gp100-specific pmel T cells, prevented primary tumor recurrence post-ablation, inhibited tumor growth at distant sites, and abrogated the outgrowth of lung metastases (182).

5. CLINICAL MANIFESTATION OF ABLATION AND IMMUNOSTIMULATION

5.1. Radiation therapy mediated ablation and anti tumor immunity

Radiation therapy (RT) is widely used with curative or palliative intent in the clinical management of multiple cancers. Although mainly aimed at direct tumor cell killing, mounting evidence suggests that radiation can alter the tumor to become an immunostimulatory milieu (the abscopal effect). Clinically, if RT treatments can be optimized to promote anti-tumor immunity, this could increase the odds of achieving local cancer control and combat growth of micrometastases.

Data suggest that the immunogenic effects of radiation can be exploited to promote synergistic antitumor effects in combination with immunotherapeutic agents in cancer patients (183). Recent papers review the concepts associated with the immunogenic consequences of RT and how preclinical findings are translated into clinical benefit for patients receiving combination regimens of RT and therapeutic cancer vaccines such as dendritic cell vaccines, whole tumor cell vaccines, viral vaccines, peptide or protein vaccines, and nucleic acid vaccines (184), checkpoint inhibitors or cytokines (185). Clinical trials combining RT and immunotherapy, two modalities yet to be used in combination in routine practice, are summarized in recent extensive reviews (50, 186). These trials include careful immune monitoring of the patients enrolled and will generate important data about the pro immunogenic effects of radiation in combination with a variety of immune modulators, in different disease settings.

Role of human myeloid-derived suppressor cell (MDSC) subsets and of T-cell-mediated immune responses in clinical outcomes in patients with oligometastases treated by stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) and sunitinib have been evaluated. Sunitinib treatment increased the efficacy of SBRT in patients with oligometastases by reversing MDSC and Tregmediated immune suppression and may enhance cancer immune therapy to prevent tumor recurrence post-SBRT. Sunitinib treatment resulted in a significant reduction in monocytic MDSC, phosphorylated STAT3, and arginase levels in monocytic MDSC (CD33(+)CD14(+)CD16(+), and an increase in T-cell proliferative activity in cancer patients. SBRT synergized the therapeutic effects of sunitinib, especially as related to decreased numbers of monocytic MDSC, Treg, and B cells, and augmented Tbet expression in primary CD4 and CD8 T cells. These effects were not observed in patients receiving radiation therapy alone. The responders, defined by sunitinibmediated reduction in CD33(+)CD11b(+) myeloid cell populations, tend to exhibit improved progression-free survival and cause-specific survival (187).

5.2. Thermal ablation5.2.1. RF ablation and anti-tumor immunity

Radio-Frequency Ablation (RFA) is a minimally invasive technique, which is used as standard local therapy of primary and metastatic liver tumors in patients. RFA is one of the treatments for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) or liver metastases of colon carcinomas (CRC) and is known to enhance host immune response. Following RFA, changes can be detected in immune-related cells and molecules in the serum of patients. Such agents might be involved in modulating the immune responses towards tumor cells which express the *in vivo* released tumor antigens.

Since hepatocellular carcinoma (HCCs) are in general only weakly immunogenic, cell injury induced by local tumor ablation, by ethanol injection (PEI) or radiofrequency thermal ablation (RFTA), may increase HCC immunogenicity and may release endogenous adjuvants that activate dendritic cells (DC). HCC ablation induced a functional transient activation of myeloid DC but not of plasmocytoid DC associated with increased serum levels of TNF-alpha and IL-1beta (188). RFA treated patients with liver metastases of colorectal cancer or with hepatocellular carcinoma show also a significant tumor-specific cytotoxic T-cell stimulation, assessed by an interferon gamma (IFNgamma) secretion assay, and manifest a dramatic increase in tumor specific cytolytic activity of CD8(+) T cells against human CaCo colorectal cancer and HepG2 HCC cells (189).

In cancer patients, only few studies have described the induction of specific immune responses after RFA. Napoletano *et al.* reported that naïve and memory CD62L⁺ T cells translocate to the tissues and

that T cells produced IFN-y in response to the tumorassociated MUC1 antigen, while humoral immune responses were unaffected by RFA treatment (190). HCC thermal ablation can create an antigenic source along with stimuli appropriate for maturation of APCs to induce HCC-specific T-cell responses. Expression of costimulatory molecules, lymph-node homing chemokine receptor, antigen presentation, and cytokine secretion were enhanced in monocytes from RFA treated patients after incubation with RFA treated HCC tissue and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), or GM-CSF plus IL-4, as compared with untreated HCC and non tumor liver tissue. Moreover, HCC-specific T-cell responses could be induced by monocytes activated with GM-CSF and incubated with thermally ablated HCC tissue (191). Tumor ablation by RFA induces effects important for boosting anti-tumor immune responses. Thus, tumor cell necrosis generates a permanent immunogenic source of tumor antigens, which are captured, processed and presented by dendritic cells for effective immunization without requirement for ex vivo antigen loading (192). These authors were also able to show increased IFN-g production and cytotoxic activity of NK cells 4 weeks after RFA. By dividing the patients into high and low responders these parameters gained predictive value on the efficacy of the ablative treatment. These data suggest the involvement of NK cells in tumor control after RFA (193).

Since hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) recurs frequently after minimally invasive therapy, adoptive immunotherapy was considered helpful in lowering recurrence and metastasis rates. A combined therapeutic regimen for HCC patients, composed of transfusion of autologous RetroNectin activated killer (RAK) cells and radiofrequency ablation reported no severe adverse events, recurrences or deaths in all 7 HCC patients during a seven-month follow-up (194).

Univariate analyses of parameters in 20 HCC patients treated by RFA identified the number of TAAspecific CD8⁺ T cells as a significant prognostic factor for recurrence-free survival (195). A similar extensive study by Mizukoshi and colleagues also suggested that RFA stimulates anti-tumor immunity. They analyzed immune responses before and after RFA in 69 HCC patients using 11 tumor-associated antigen (TAA)-derived peptides. An increase in the number of TAA-specific T cells occurred in 62.3.% of patients after RFA. The antigens and their epitope to which enhanced T cell responses occur were diverse, and some of them were newly induced. The number of TAA-specific T cells after RFA was associated with the prevention of HCC recurrence, and it was clarified to be predictive of HCC recurrence after RFA. The number of TAA-specific T cells after RFA was inversely correlated with the frequency of CD14+ HLA-DR(-/low) myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (196). Further evidence was presented that RFA might extend survival by reducing myeloid derived suppressor cells and thus

promote anti-tumor immunity. The frequency of MDSCs in 123 HCC patients was significantly increased compared to patients with chronic hepatitis and healthy controls. The serum concentrations of IL-10, IL-13, and vascular endothelial growth factor were significantly increased in patients with high MDSCs and correlated with the frequency of MDSCs. In 33 HCC patients who received curative radiofrequency ablation therapy, the frequency of MDSCs after treatment showed various changes and was inversely correlated with recurrence-free survival time (197).

RFA, which is also applied for treatment of renal cell carcinoma (RCC) can cause changes in the peripheral blood lymphocyte population after RFA of RCC patients. In 5 out of 6 patients, the proportion of activated (CD3(+)DR(+)) cells increased over the whole follow-up period with the highest values in the second week after RFA, while the percentage of NK cells (CD56(+) CD16(+)) was decreased in most of the patients. The proportion of CD4(+) and CD8(+) lymphocytes changed but no consistent pattern was observed. In all patients, the changes were most pronounced 2 weeks after the procedure (198).

In a comprehensive study the activation of tumor antigen-specific antibodies, as well as antigen-specific CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells was assessed in 49 patients suffering from various primary or secondary malignancies (CRC liver metastases, lung carcinoma, breast carcinoma, melanoma HCC or RCC), and treated by radiofrequency ablation with or without concomitant chemotherapy. An increase of antibodies (in 4 patients with CRC metastases, RCC or melanoma), CD4(+) T cells or CD8(+) T cells (in 2 patients of 49) could be detected several weeks to months following intervention (199).

RFA may promote anti tumor immunity by causing the release of danger signals, which promote dendritic cell maturation and function. To this end a significant increase in serum levels of heat shock protein 70 was detectable in a patient cohort with mainly CRC (liver metastases) 1 day after radiofrequency ablation. More than a twofold increase was observed in nine out of 22 patients, which tended to correlate with favorable clinical outcome. No patient of the control group revealed a comparable increase. Thus, elevated heat shock protein 70 serum levels may constitute a biomarker for favorable clinical outcome (200).

5.2.2. Laser and microwave ablation (MWA)

Thermal ablation by laser or microwaves of patients with various tumors yielded activation of anti tumor immunity, which was hence enforced by immunomodulating treatments.

Patients with advanced melanoma in which combined intratumoral injection of DC and local hyperthermia led to immunostimulation and decreased

tumor progression (201). Laser-induced thermotherapy (LITT) of colorectal cancer liver metastases induced a specific cytotoxic T cell response in patients. CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ T cells triggered by autologous tumor tissue secreted elevated IFNg levels, and a significantly increased cytolytic activity of CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ T cells after LITT against an allogeneic tumor (CaCo cell line) was observed (202). Li and collaborators applied photohermal therapy using lasers with the imiquimod immune adjuvant for *in situ* photoimmunotherapy (ISPI) of metastatic melanoma. The treatment induced a complete response in six out of eleven patients and resulted in a 12-month survival probability of 70% (203).

5.2.3. High intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU)

The immunological consequences of HIFU ablation were studied in preclinical and clinical settings. HIFU treatment triggered systemic cellular immune responses in cancer patients with posterior choroidal melanoma (204), late-stage pancreatic cancer (205), osteosarcomas, HCC and RCC (206). Clinical evidences suggest that HIFU treatment may also enhance local antitumor immunity in prostate cancer patients (207). HIFU upregulated expression of HSP70 in breast cancer tumor debris (208).

Immune cell infiltration, mainly APCs, was observed along the margins of the ablated regions in all HIFU-treated tumors, in breast cancer patients, and numbers of tumor-infiltrating DCs, macrophages and B lymphocytes increased significantly in the HIFU group (209). Furthermore, HIFU could induce significant infiltration of TILs in human breast cancer, including CD3, CD4, CD8, B lymphocytes and NK cells (210).

Immunosuppression in a patient with malignant tumor is a major obstacle in cancer treatment. Study on the effect of HIFU treatment on the circulating level of immunosuppressive cytokines in patients with malignancy revealed that HIFU could decrease tumor-secreted immunosuppressive cytokine production in addition to its direct tumor destruction. There were also significant decreases of VEGF, TGF-beta1, and TGF-beta2 before and after HIFU treatment. Compared with the values in the metastatic patients, serum levels of immunosuppressive cytokines were significantly lower in the non-metastatic patients after HIFU treatment. This change may lessen tumor-induced immunosuppression and renew antitumor immunity after HIFU in cancer patients (211).

5.2.4. Cryoablation

Treatment of cancer patients by cryoablation in combination with immunotherapy improved survival in various tumors. Either cryosurgery or topical imiquimod have been used to treat patients with lentigo maligna (a melanoma *in situ* that consists of malignant cells but

does not show invasive growth) in cases where surgery is not feasible. A patient with lentigo maligna, who was treated with the combination of topical imiquimod and cryosurgery, showed Sustained clearance of lentigo maligna for 26 months after treatment (212). In another study percutaneous cryoablation of lung metastasis from renal cell carcinoma (RCC) in combination with aerosolized granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor induced systemic cellular and humoral immune responses in patients. The treatment induced robust and brisk tumor specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes, specific *in vitro* antitumor antibody responses, and enhanced Th1 cytokine production in 4 of 6 patients. The magnitude of cellular and humoral antitumor response seems to be associated with clinical responses (213).

Cryotherapy and, especially, comprehensive cryosurgery (ablation) plus dendritic cell-cytokine-induced killer cell immunotherapy (cryo-immunotherapy) significantly increased overall survival in 45 patients with metastatic hepatocellular cancer. Multiple cryo-immunotherapy was associated with a better prognosis than single cryo-immunotherapy. After an 8-year follow-up Median overall survival was higher following cryo-immunotherapy (32 mo) or cryotherapy (17.5. mo; P < 0.0.5) than in the untreated group (3 mo) (214).

5.3. Electric based cancer ablation

High voltage electrochemotherapy (ECT) is currently used for the treatment of melanoma patients. In a phase I dose escalation trial patients with metastatic melanoma received ECT into metastatic melanoma lesions immediately after plasmid interleukin (IL)-12 injection. Post-treatment biopsies showed plasmid dose proportional increases in IL-12 protein levels as well as marked tumor necrosis and lymphocytic infiltrate. Two of 19 patients with no other systemic therapy showed complete regression of all non-electroporated distant metastases, whereas eight additional patients showed disease stabilization or partial response (215). To find if the destruction of the tumor by ECT stimulates immune response components, the presence of dendritic cells (DCs) in the inflammatory infiltrate of ECT-treated lesions from melanoma patients was determined. The data showed that ECT promotes LCs migration from the tumour to draining lymph nodes and plasmacytoid DCs and dermal DCs recruitment at the site of the lesion (216).

5.4. Photodynamic therapy

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) has become a well-established treatment modality, which has been shown to be effective and safe for many skin and mucosal disorders. Pre-clinical and clinical studies demonstrate that, in addition to the direct local cytotoxicity and vascular effects, PDT can induce various host immune responses.

As early as 2001 Abdel-Hady and colleagues contended that high-risk HPV infection and lack

of cell-mediated immunity may play a role in the observed poor response of lower genital lesions of vulval intraepithelial neoplasia (VIN) to topical PDT. They assessed immune infiltrating cells in VIN biopsies from responders and non-responders and found that compared with normal vulval skin, VIN lesions showed increased infiltration by CD4 (T-helper) and CD68 (macrophages) but not CD1a (Langerhans cells) or CD8 (CTLs). However, in PDT responders a significant increase of CD8 infiltration was observed post treatment compared with non-responders (217).

Clinical data show that improved clinical outcomes can be obtained through the sequential use of PDT and the immunostimulant, Imiquimod. Imiquimod can activate monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells by binding to Toll-like receptor 7 and 8 (TLR-7, TLR-8) on the cell surfaces. Women with high-grade VIN were treated with topical imiguimod and PDT sequentially and clinical response was assessed by measuring lesion size. The non-responders showed a significantly higher level of T regulatory cells in the lesions after imiguimod treatment, which may obstruct any possible anti-tumor immune responses (218). A summary and discussion of various clinical studies on PDT treatment for VIN and the clinical and immunological responses were also reported (219). PDT is also an effective treatment for non-melanoma skin premalignant and malignant lesions. and can be augmented by imiguimod to achieve better tumor control (220).

5.5. Chemical and biological ablation

The "immunogenic cell death" induced by certain cytotoxic drugs claims that immunostimulation occurs and facilitates the elimination of residual disease. as found in preclinical studies and discussed in Section 3.5. Yet, in a clinical setting it is difficult to demonstrate stimulation of anti tumor immunity after chemotherapy due to the immunosuppressive nature of many chemotherapeutic drugs. An indirect correlation between chemotherapy and immunostimulation was presented in a study performed by Tesniere and collaborators (221). They showed that the anthracycline, oxaliplatin (OXP) triggered the exposure of the danger signals, highmobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) and calreticulin (CRT) in a series of murine and human colon cancer cell lines. In patients with advanced (stage IV, Duke D) CRC, who received an OXP-based chemotherapeutic regimen, the loss-of-function allele of TLR4, reducing its affinity for HMGB1 was as prevalent as in the general population. However, patients carrying the TLR4 loss-offunction allele exhibited reduced progression-free and overall survival, as compared with patients carrying the normal TLR4 allele (221). Results in this line indicated that the progression-free survival of anthracycline treated patients is reduced in breast cancer patients bearing loss-of-function alleles of TLR4 or P2RX7. In contrast, loss-of-function TLR4 and P2RX7 alleles do not affect

overall survival in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients, irrespective of the administration and type of chemotherapy. The intrinsic characteristics of NSCLC which is highly chemoresistant and/or the drug of choice for treatment employed to treat this malignancy (cisplatin) may explain why two genes that affect the immune response to dying cells fail to influence the clinical progression of NSCLC patients (222).

6. COMPARISON OF IMMUNOSTIMULATORY EFFICACY OF DIFFERENT ABLATION MODALITIES

There is a lack of direct information on the relative efficacy of different ablation methods to stimulate anti tumor immunity. Most of the studies compared radiofrequency ablation with cryoablation or electric based treatments. Most of the studies were performed by ablation of normal liver tissue, and compared the resulting inflammatory reactions.

A review of the literature claimed that in cancer patients the immune responses elicited by cryotherapy, both cellular and cytokine, seem far greater than those produced by radiofrequency or microwave ablation, probably as a consequence of the peculiar mechanism of cell death of the former (disruptive necrosis) (223).

den Brok and collaborators directly compared the ability of radiofrequency and cryoablation to provide an antigen source for DC and compared this with an ex vivo-loaded DC vaccine. Their study revealed that upon tumour destruction by radiofrequency ablation, up to 7% of the total draining lymph node (LN) DC contained antigen, while after cryoablation the amount of antigenloaded DC is almost doubled. Only few DC from the conventional vaccine reached the LN (137).

Multisystem injury, including acute lung injury, is a severe complication associated with hepatic cryoablation of 30% to 35% or more of liver parenchyma, but this complication has not been reported with RFA. Hepatic cryoablation, but not RFA, induced NF-kappaB activation in the non-ablated liver and lung and was associated with acute lung injury. Histologic lung sections from rats after cryoablation showed multiple foci of perivenular inflammation, with activated lymphocytes, foamy macrophages, and neutrophils. In animals undergoing RFA, inflammatory foci were not present. NF-kappaB activation was detected at 1 hour in both liver and lung tissue samples of animals undergoing cryoablation but not after RFA, and serum cytokine levels were significantly elevated in cryoablation versus RFA animals. Lung inflammation is associated with the thawing phase of cryoablation and may be related to soluble mediator(s) released from the cryoablated tissue. These findings correlate with the clinical observation of an increased incidence of multisystem injury, including adult respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), after cryoablation but not RFA (224).

Other preclinical studies compared the ability of different ablation methods to induce inflammation in normal swine liver. Different hepatic procedures (RFA, cryotherapy, hepatic pedicle ligation, and hepatectomy) were performed on the medial lobe of the liver (30% of the liver volume) of 23 domestic swine and systemic responses in terms of systemic inflammatory marker changes and end-organ functions were determined. During the early postoperative period, the systemic inflammatory marker concentrations (tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1beta) in the RFA group were significantly lower than in the cryotherapy group. However, the increase in serum inflammatory markers and pneumonitis after RFA was substantial when compared with hepatectomy (225). A comparative study investigated whether there are different inflammatory and coagulative responses between cryoablation (CA). radiofrequency ablation (RFA), and laser induced thermotherapy (LITT) techniques applied on rat livers. Transaminase levels as well as the inflammatory response upon CA, as reflected by white blood cell count and IL-6 and IL-10 cytokine levels, were significantly higher than following RFA or LITT (226). The levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-1 β and IL-6 were also significantly higher after cryotherapy (CRYO) and RFA compared with MTA, hepatic resection, or controls. Transitional zones produced after RFA were larger than those after CRYO or MTA, but no correlation was present with the amount of cytokines (227).

Evaluation of the safety and effectiveness of Electrolytic therapy (ECT) in comparison with radiofrequency ablation (RFA) was performed in tumor mimics created by injecting a gel into the pig liver. ECT produced predictable and reproducible necrosis in pig livers and was as effective as RFA at destroying a defined target lesion. After ECT but not RFA infiltrating lymphocytes often surrounded necrotic zones. A local inflammatory reaction after ECT may favor the development of a systemic immune response (228). Comparison of the effects of electrochemical treatment (ECT) and Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) in pigs. showed that both ECT and RFA were associated with a reversible increase in monocyte, C-reactive protein (CRP) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels. There was no significant increase in interleukin-1ß (IL-1ß), tumour necrosis factor-α (TNF-α) and IL-6 (229).

It can be concluded that radiofrequency ablation induced weaker inflammatory responses compared with cryoablation electric based ablation or laser induced thermal ablation. Whether this is also manifested as a weaker anti tumor immunity induced by RFA was not yet proven.

7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

In this article are reviewed and discussed preclinical and clinical studies on different ablation methods used to treat a large spectrum of tumors. As indicated, ablation has been utilized to destroy the tumors and as a result create inflammation and upregulate expression of immunomodulatory surface molecules and secretory molecules in the tumor, and its microenvironment.

The delivery of radiation therapy (RT) for cancer with intent to cure has been optimized and standardized over the last 80 years. External beam gamma radiation is the most prevalent *in situ* ablation treatment and its use exposed the "abscopal effect". Both preclinical and clinical work emphasized the observation that radiation destroys the tumor and exposes it's components to the immune response in a mode, which facilitates the induction of anti-tumor immunity or reinforces such a response. Different types of radiation such as gamma, alpha or particles can carry out this activity. Radiation may also directly affect the distribution and function of immune cells such as T ccelle, Tregs, and mononuclear phagocytes.

Heat based tumor ablation is also frequently used by elevating the temperature over a wide range (37°-80°) either in the whole body or locally in tumors. Physical measures such as radiofrequency, microwaves, high intensity focused ultrasound, and lasers are used to generate high temperatures which produce a wide range of effects in tumor bearing hosts and have been used in cancer therapy. Data from animal models and human patients indicate that whole body and locoregional high temperature treatment of cancer destroys tumoral tissue generating a local necrosis followed by marked inflammatory response. It also exerts many biological and therapeutic effects on immune competent cells and cytokines, and the immune effects may depend on the type of treatment. In the ablation range cancer cell necrosis dominates and tumor specific immunity is observed, an effect that may play an important role in the outcome of treatment. Tumor destruction can be also achieved by Cryoablation, which involves the use of freezing temperatures to kill cells and destroy tissue.

Electric-based cancer ablation was developed for *in situ* ablation of solid tumors. These range from measures of low electric currents or fields to high and very high electric fields with a similar intent to destroy the tumors and a similar result of induction of anti tumor immunity.

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) uses non-toxic photosensitizers and light in combination with oxygen to produce cytotoxic reactive oxygen species that kill malignant cells, and damage the tumor

microvasculature and create rapid dramatic changes in tumor microenvironment. PDT, which is used mainly for superficial tumors, induced inflammation following cell death, debris elimination and resolution of the inflammation.

Cytotoxic chemotherapy, the principal treatment modality for advanced cancer, may also be considered as an in situ ablation treatment. Certain conventional chemotherapeutic drugs cause cell death that can elicit a specific antitumor immune response driven by dendritic cells, by increasing tumor immunogenicity and by triggering 'danger signals'. Chemotherapy can also exert other immune modulatory effects on a number of immune cells such as regulatory T cells. Systemic treatment by biological agents, such as imatinib, which kill tumor cells, may also result in activation of anti tumor immunity, and this topic has not been studied yet extensively.

The results indicate that the immune response to local ablation treatments is complex, and potential combinations can be tailored to address both immune stimulatory and suppressive elements. It is therefore important to further understand the immune response that follows a local ablative treatment and the immune effector cells that are involved.

To day we have a more profound understanding of the function and intercellular interactions of immune cells. As noted anti tumor immunity requires the presence of tumor antigens, the proper MHC molecules, the involvement of antigen presenting cells and cross presentation mechanisms to trigger helper and cytotoxic T lymphocytes, and danger signals for proper activation of APC, and expression of costimulatory molecules.

The involvement of DCs and macrophages are critical to the initial response and to inducing T cell activity against other sites. A big effort was made to show that immunoadjuvants, cytokines and dendritic calls can take the weak responses triggered by ablation and promote them to effective tumor eradicating combination treatments. However, immune suppressive cells and molecules such as tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs), Tregs, MDSCs, and immunological checkpoint molecules can inhibit the response to local treatment and should be targeted. The results show that down regulation of the function of Tregs, MDSC and the use of immunological checkpoint blockade strengthened the anti tumor reactivity induced by in situ ablation.

An interesting and important question pertains to the relative capacity of the different ablation methods to induce anti tumor immunity, but very limited information can be found in the literature about it. Several studies compared radiofrequency ablation with cryoablation stating that cryoablation is better in inducing inflammation and might be a better immunostimulatory measure. Yet,

the data is scares and more studies on this topic are required.

The overall conclusion is that the use of different ablation methods on different tumors resulted in most of the cases in stimulation of anti tumor immunity. The understanding of the interactions between ablation therapies and the immune system and the tumor microenvironment is crucial for the rational development of combination treatments of immunotherapy with conventional or targeted therapies to achieve a synergistic antitumor effect and improved treatment outcomes. Such information is also required in order to estimate the possible collateral damage of such treatment modalities.

8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I deeply thank my long time collaborators Prof. Rafi Korenstein from the Tel Aviv University Medical School, and Prof. Itzhak Kelson from the School of Physics and Astronomy at TAU. Thanks to Ms. Margalit Efrati for her technical assistance and the Roberts-Guthman Chair of Immunopharmacology for financial support.

9. REFERENCES

- Jacques Ferlay, Hai-Rim Shin, Freddie Bray, David Forman, Colin Mathers, Donald Maxwell Parkin: Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 10 (Internet). International Agency for Research on Cancer (2010). Available from: http://globocan.iarc.fr, 2010
- Robin J. Prestwich, Fiona Errington, P. 2. Hatfield, A.E. Merrick, Elizabeth J. Ilett, Peter J. Selby, Alan A. Melcher: The immune system--is it relevant to cancer development. progression and treatment? Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 20, 101-12 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.clon.2007.10.011
- Wolf H. Fridman, Franc Pages, Caterine Sautes-Fridman, Jerom Galon: The immune contexture in human tumours: Impact on clinical outcome. Nature Reviews Cancer 12, 298-306 (2012)
 - DOI: 10.1038/nrc3245
- William B. Coley: The Treatment of Malignant Tumors by Repeated Innoculations of Erysipelas: With a Report of Ten Original Cases. Am J Med Sci 10, 487-511 (1893) DOI: 10.1097/00000441-189305000-00001
- 5. Robert O. Dillman, Gary B. Fogel, Andrew N. Cornforth, Senthamil R. Selvan, Patric

M. Schiltz, and Carol DePriest: Features associated with survival in metastatic melanoma patients treated with patientspecific dendritic cell vaccines. Cancer biother radiopharm 26:407-15 (2011) DOI: 10.1089/cbr.2011.0973

Andrew M. Scott, Jedd D. Wolchok, Lloyd J. Old: Antibody therapy of cancer. Nature Rev Cancer 12, 278-287 (2012).

> DOI: 10.1.038/nrc3236 DOI: 10.1038/nrc3236

Steven A. Rosenberg: IL-2: the first effective immunotherapy for human cancer. J Immunol 192, 5451-8 (2014)

DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.1490019

Steven A. Rosenberg, Nicholas P. Restifo: Adoptive cell transfer as personalize immunotherapy for human cancer. Science 348 (6230), 62-68 (2015)

DOI: 10.1126/science.aaa4967

- David L. Porter, Bruce L. Levine, Michael Kalos, Adam Bagg, Carl H. June: Chimeric antigen receptor modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med 365, 725-733 (2011)
- 10. Michael H. Kershaw, Jennifer A. Westwood, Clare Y. Slaney, Phillip K. Darcy: Clinical application of genetically modified T cells in cancer therapy. Clinical & Translational Immunology (2014) 3, e16; DOI: 10.1038/cti.2014.7
- 11. Caroline Robert, Antoni Ribas, Jedd D. Wolchok, F. Stephen Hodi, Omid Hamid, Richard Kefford, Jeffrey S. Weber, Anthony M. Joshua, Wen-Jen Hwu, Tara C. Gangadhar, Amita Patnaik, Roxana Dronca, Hassane Zarour, Richard W. Joseph, Peter Boasberg, Bartosz Chmielowski. Christine Mateus. Michael A. Postow, Kevin Gergich, Jeroen Elassaiss-Schaap, Xiaoyun Nicole Li, Robert lannone, Scot W. Ebbinghaus, S. Peter Kang, Adil Daud: Anti-programmed-death-receptor-1 treatment with pembrolizumab in ipilimumabrefractory advanced melanoma: a randomised dose-comparison cohort of a phase 1 trial. Lancet 384(9948), 1109-17 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60958-2
- 12. Suzanne L. Topalian, Mario Sznol, David F. McDermott, Harriet M. Kluger, Richard D. Carvajal, William H. Sharfman, Julie R. Brahmer, Donald P. Lawrence, Michael B.

- Atkins, John D. Powderly, Philip D. Leming, Evan J. Lipson, Igor Puzanov, David C. Smith, Janis M. Taube, Jon M. Wigginton, Georgia D. Kollia, Ashok Gupta, Drew M. Pardoll, Jeffrey A. Sosman, F. Stephen Hodi: Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. *J Clin Oncol* 32, 1020-30 (2014) DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2013.53.0105
- 13. Jedd D. Wolchok, Jeffrey S. Weber, M. Maio, B. Neyns, K. Harmankaya, K. Chin, L. Cykowski, V. de Pril, R. Humphrey, C. Lebbé: Four-year survival rates for patients with metastatic melanoma who received ipilimumab in phase II clinical trials. Ann Oncol 24, 2174-2180 (2013)

DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdt161

14. Jeffrey Schlom, James W. Hodge, Claudia Palena, Kwong-Yok Tsang, Caroline Jochems, John W. Greiner, Benedetto Farsaci, Ravi A. Madan, Christopher R. Heery, James L. Gulley: Therapeutic cancer vaccines. Adv Cancer Res 121, 67-124 (2014)

DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800249-0.00002-0

- 15. Lukasz A Myc, Andrzej Gamian, Andrzej Myc: Cancer vaccines. Any future? Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) 59, 249-59 (2011) DOI: 10.1007/s00005-011-0129-y
- 16. Myron P. Nobler. The abscopal effect in malignant lymphoma and its relationship to lymphocyte circulation. Radiology 93, 410-412 (1969)

DOI: 10.1148/93.2.410

17. Muneeb Ahmed: Image-guided tumor ablation: standardization of terminology and reporting criteria--a 10-year update. Radiology 273, 241-60 (2014)

DOI: 10.1148/radiol.14132958

- 18. Elena N. Petre, Stephen B. Solomon, Constantinos T. Sofocleous: The role of percutaneous image-quided ablation for lung tumors. Radiol Med 119, 541-8 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s11547-014-0427-7
- 19. Yona Keisari. Tumor Ablation: effects on systemic and local anti-tumor immunity and on other tumor-microenvironment interactions. Springer, Dordrecht, (2013) DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-4694-7
- 20. Christopher Bastianpillai, Neophytos Petrides, Taimur Shah, Stephanie Guillaumier, Hasim U. Ahmed, Manit Arya: Harnessing the

immunomodulatory effect of thermal and non-thermal ablative therapies for cancer treatment. *Tumour Biol.* Sep 30 (2015). (Epub ahead of print)

DOI: 10.1007/s13277-015-4126-3

- Morgan A. O'Brien, Derek G. Power, A. James P. Clover, Brian Bird, Declan M. Soden, Patric F. Forde: Local tumour ablative therapies: opportunities for maximising immune engagement and activation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1846, 510-23 (2014)
 - DOI: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2014.09.005
- 22. Richard A. Lake, Bruce W. Robinson: Immunotherapy and chemotherapy--a practical partnership. *Nat Rev Cancer* 5, 397-405 (2005)

 DOI: 10.1038/nrc1613
- Sandra Demaria, Silvia C. Formenti: Sensors of ionizing radiation effects on the immunological microenvironment of cancer. *Int J Rad Biol* 83, 819-25 (2007) DOI: 10.1080/09553000701481816
- Laurence Zitvogel, Oliver Kepp, Guido Kroemer: Immune parameters affecting the efficacy of chemotherapeutic regimens. *Nature* reviews. Clinical oncology 8, 151-60 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2010.223
- Jonathan Begley, Antoni Ribas: Targeted therapies to improve tumor immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res 14, 4385-91 (2008)
 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4804
- Ira Mellman, George Coukos, Glen Dranoff: Cancer immunotherapy comes of age. *Nature* 480(7378), 480-9 (2011)
 DOI: 10.1038/nature10673
- 27. Daniel S. Chen, Ira Mellman: Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. *Immunity* 39, 1-10 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1.016/j.immuni.2013.0.7.0.12
 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.012
- 28. Jacques Bernier, Eric J. Hall, Amato Giaccia: Radiation oncology: a century of achievements. *Nat Rev Cancer* 4, 737-47 (2004). DOI: 10.1038/nrc1451
- 29. William H. McBride, Dorthe Schaue. In situ tumor ablation with radiation therapy: Its effect on the tumor microenvironment and antitumor immunity. In: Tumor Ablation: effects on systemic and local anti-tumor immunity and on other tumor-microenvironment interactions.

- Ed: Keisari Y, Springer, Dordrecht. Ch. 6, 109-119 (2013)
- DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-4694-7 6
- Eric J. Friedman: Immune modulation by ionizing radiation and its implications for cancer immunotherapy. Curr Pharm Des 8, 1765-80 (2002)
 - DOI: 10.2174/1381612023394089
- William H McBride, Chi-Shiun Chiang, J. L. Olson, C. C. Wang, Ji-Hong Hong, F. Pajonk, Graeme J. Dougherty, K. S. Iwamoto, M. Pervan, Y. P. Liao: A sense of danger from radiation. *Radiat Res* 162, 1-19 (2004) DOI: 10.1667/RR3196
- Sandra Demaria, Bruce Ng, Mary Louise Devitt, James S. Babb, Noriko Kawashima, Leonard Liebes, Silvia C. Formenti: Ionizing radiation inhibition of distant untreated tumors (abscopal effect) is immune mediated. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 58, 862-70 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2003.09.012
- Joseph M. Kaminski, Eric Shinohara, James Bradley Summers, Kenneth J. Niermann, Allan Morimoto, Jeffrey Brousa: The controversial abscopal effect. Cancer Treat Rev 31, 159-72 (2005)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2005.03.004
- 34. Sandra Demaria, Nina Bhardwaj, William H. McBride, Silvia C. Formenti. Combining radiotherapy and immunotherapy: a revived partnership. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 63, 655-66 (2005)
 - DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2005.06.032
- Lior Arazi, Tomer Cooks, Michael Schmidt, Yona Keisari, Itahak Kelson: Treatment of solid tumours by interstitial release of recoiling short-lived alpha emitters. *Phys Med Biol* 52, 5025-5042 (2007)
 - DOI: 10.1088/0031-9155/52/16/021
- 36. Yona Keisari, Ilan Hochman, Hila Confino, Rafi Korenstein, Itzhak Kelson: Activation of local and systemic anti-tumor immune responses by ablation of solid tumors with intratumoral electrochemical or alpha radiation treatments. Cancer Immunol Immunother 63, 1-9 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s00262-013-1462-2
- Hila Confino, Ilan Hochman, Margalit Efrati, Michael Schmidt, Viktor Umansky, Itzhak Kelson, Yona Keisari: Tumor ablation by intratumoral Ra-224-loaded wires induces

- anti-tumor immunity against experimental metastatic tumors. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 64, 191-9 (2015)
- DOI: 10.1007/s00262-014-1626-8
- Jean-Baptiste Gorin, Jérémie Ménager, Sébastien Gouard, Catherine Maurel, Yannick Guilloux, Alain Faivre-Chauvet, Alfred Morgenstern, Frank Bruchertseifer, Michel Chérel, François Davodeau, Joëlle Gaschet: Antitumor immunity induced after α irradiation. Neoplasia. 16, 319-28 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.neo.2014.04.002
- Akinao Matsunaga, Yasuji Ueda, Shigeru Yamada, Yui Harada, Hideaki Shimada, Mamoru Hasegawa, Hirohiko Tsujii, Takenori Ochiai, Yoshikazu Yonemitsu: Carbon-ion beam treatment induces systemic antitumor immunity against murine squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer* 116, 3740-8 (2010) DOI: 10.1002/cncr.25134
- Chi-Shiun Chiang, Ji-Hong Hong, A. Stalder, Ji-Rong Sun, H. Rodney Withers, William H. Mcbride: Delayed Molecular Responses to Brain Irradiation. *Int J Radiat Biol* 72, 45-53 (1997)

DOI: 10.1080/095530097143527

 Alessandro D. Santin, John C. Hiserodt, John Fruehauf, Philip J. Disaia, Sergio Pecorelli, Gale A. Granger: Effects of Irradiation on the Expression of Surface Antigens in Human Ovarian Cancer. Gynecol Oncol 60, 468-474 (1996)

DOI: 10.1006/gyno.1996.0075

42. Elizabeth W. Newcomb, Sandra Demaria, Yevgeniy Lukyanov, Yongzhao Shao, Tona Schnee, Noriko Kawashima, Li Lan, J. Keith Dewyngaert, David Zagzag, William H. McBride, Silvia C. Formenti: The Combination of Ionizing Radiation and Peripheral Vaccination Produces Long-Term Survival of Mice Bearing Established Invasive Gl261 Gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 12, 4730-4737 (2006)

DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0593

43. Eric A. Reits, James W. Hodge, Carla A. Herberts, Tom A. Groothuis, Mala Chakraborty, Elizabeth K.Wansley, Kevin Camphausen, Rosalie M. Luiten, Arnold H. de Ru, Joost Neijssen, Alexander Griekspoor, Elly Mesman, Frank A. Verreck, Hergen Spits, Jeffrey Schlom, Peter van Veelen,

- Jacques J. Neefjes: Radiation Modulates the Peptide Repertoire, Enhances Mhc Class I Expression, and Induces Successful Antitumor Immunotherapy. *J Exp Med* 203, 1259-1271 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20052494
- Dörthe Schaue, Richard C. Koya, Yu-Pei Liao, Antoni Ribas, William H. Mcbride: Immune Rejection in a Humanized Model of Murine Prostate Cancer. *Anticancer Res* 30, 409-414 (2010)
- 45. Anu Sharma, Beata Bode, Roland H. Wenger, Kuno Lehmann, Alessandro A. Sartori, Holger Moch, Alexander Knuth, Lotta von Boehmer, Maries van den Broek: Gamma-Radiation Promotes Immunological Recognition of Cancer Cells through Increased Expression of Cancer-Testis Antigens in vitro and in vivo. PLoS One 6:e28217 (2011).
 - DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028217
- 46. Adi Diab, Robert R. Jenq, Gabrielle A. Rizzuto, Adam D. Cohen, Deonka W. Huggins, Taha Merghoub, Manuel E. Engelhorn, José A. Guevara-Patiño, David Suh, Vanessa M. Hubbard-Lucey, Adam A. Kochman, Suzie Chen, Hong Zhong, Jedd D. Wolchok, Marcel R. M. van den Brink, Alan N. Houghton, Miguel-Angel Perales: Enhanced responses to tumor immunization following total body irradiation are time-dependent. PLoS One 8, e82496 (2013)

DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082496

- Chien-Sheng Tsai, Fang-Hsin Chen, Chun-Chieh Wang, Hsiang-Ling Huang, Shih-Ming Jung, Chi-Jung Wu, Chung-Chi Lee, William H. Mcbride, Chi-Shiun Chiang, Ji-Hong Hong: Macrophages from Irradiated Tumors Express Higher Levels of Inos, Arginase-I and Cox-2, and Promote Tumor Growth. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 68, 499-507 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.01.041
- 48. Evelyn L. Kachikwu, Keisuke S. Iwamoto, Yu-Pei Liao, John J. Demarco, Nzhde Agazaryan, James S. Economou, William H. Mcbride, Dorthe Schaue: Radiation Enhances Regulatory T Cell Representation. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 81, 1128-1135 (2010). DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2010.09.034
- Luis de la Cruz-Merino, Ana Illescas-Vacas, Ana Grueso-López, Antonio Barco-Sánchez, Carlos Míquez-Sánchez, and Cancer

- Immunotherapies Spanish Group (GETICA): Radiation for Awakening the Dormant Immune System, a Promising Challenge to be Explored. *Front Immunol* 5, 102 (2014) DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00102
- Marka Crittenden, Holbrook Kohrt, Ronald Levy, Jennifer Jones, Kevin Camphausen, Adam Dicker, Sandra Demaria, Silvia Formenti: Current Clinical Trials Testing Combinations of Immunotherapy and Radiation. Semin Radiat Oncol 25, 54-64 (2015)

DOI: 10.1016/j.semradonc.2014.07.003

- 51. Heather Webb, Meghan G. Lubner, J. Louis Hinshaw: Thermal ablation. Semin Roentgenol 46, 133-41 (2011)
 DOI: 10.1053/j.ro.2010.08.002
- 52. Stuart K. Calderwood. Hyperthermia, the Tumor Microenvironment and Immunity. In: Tumor Ablation: effects on systemic and local anti-tumor immunity and on other tumormicroenvironment interactions. Ed: Keisari Y, Springer, Dordrecht. Ch. 2, 29-37 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-4694-7
- 53. S. Nahum Goldberg, G. Scott Gazelle, Peter R. Mueller: Thermal ablation therapy for focal malignancy: a unified approach to underlying principles, techniques, and diagnostic imaging guidance. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 174, 323-331 (2000)

DOI: 10.2214/ajr.174.2.1740323

 Sebastian P. Haen, Philippe L. Pereira, Helmut R. Salih, Hans-Georg Rammensee, and C´ecile Gouttefangeas: More than just tumor destruction: immunomodulation by thermal ablation of cancer. Clin Dev Immunol 2011:160250 (2011)

DOI: 10.1155/2011/160250

- Gianfranco Baronzio, Alberto Gramaglia, Gianmaria Fiorentini: Hyperthermia and immunity. A brief overview. *In vivo* 20, 689-95 (2006)
- Seiko Toraya-Brown, Steven Fiering: Local tumour hyperthermia as immunotherapy for metastatic cancer. *Int J Hyperthermia* 30, 531-9 (2014)

DOI: 10.3109/02656736.2014.968640

 Katrina F. Chu, Damian E. Dupuy: Thermal ablation of tumours: biological mechanisms and advances in therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* 14, 199-208 (2014)

DOI: 10.1038/nrc3672

- 58. Stefan Nierkens, Martijn H. M. G. M. den Brok, Theo J. M. Ruers, Gosse J. Adema. Radiofrequency Ablation in cancer therapy: Tuning in to in situ tumor vaccines. In: Tumor Ablation: effects on systemic and local anti-tumor immunity and on other tumormicroenvironment interactions. Ed: Keisari Y, Springer, Dordrecht. Ch. 3, 39-59 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-4694-7 3
- 59. Thaddäus Till Wissniowski, Johannes Hänsler, Daniel Neureiter, Markus Frieser, Stefan Schaber, Birgit Esslinger, Reinhard Voll, Deike Strobel, Eckhart G. Hahn, Detlef Schuppan: Activation of tumor-specific T lymphocytes by radio-frequency ablation of the VX2 hepatoma in rabbits. Cancer Res 63, 6496-500 (2003) Erratum in: Cancer Res. 2003;63:7543. Wissniowski, Thadäus Till (corrected to Wissniowski, Thadäus Till (corrected to Wissniowski, Thadäus Till); Hünsler, Johannes (corrected to Hänsler, Johannes)
- 60. Martijn H. M. G. M. den Brok, Roger P. M. Sutmuller, Robbert van der Voort, Erik J. Bennink, Carl G. Figdor, Theo J. M. Ruers, Gosse J. Adema: *In situ* tumor ablation creates an antigen source for the generation of antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* 64, 4024-9 (2004)

DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3949

- 61. Sergio A. Dromi, Meghaan P Walsh, Sarah Herby, Bryan Traughber, Jianwu Xie, Karun V Sharma, Kiran P Sekhar, Alfred Luk, David J Liewehr, Matthew R Dreher, Terry J Fry, Bradford J Wood: Radiofrequency ablation induces antigen-presenting cell infiltration and amplification of weak tumor-induced immunity. *Radiology* 251, 58-66 (2009) DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2511072175
- Christopher L. Brace: Radiofrequency and microwave ablation of the liver, lung, kidney, and bone: what are the differences? *Curr Probl Diagn Radiol* 38, 135-43 (2009) DOI: 10.1067/j.cpradiol.2007.10.001
- 63. Wen Xu Lin, Theodora Fifis, Caterina Malcontenti-Wilson, Mehrdad Nikfarjam, Vijayaragavan Muralidharan, Linh Nguyen and Christopher Christophi: Induction of Th1 Immune responses following laser ablation in a murine model of colorectal liver metastases. *J Transl Med* 9, 83 (2011)

DOI: 10.1186/1479-5876-9-83

64. Feng Wu. High intensity focused ultrasound

(HIFU) ablation. In: Tumor Ablation: effects on systemic and local anti-tumor immunity and on other tumor-microenvironment interactions. Ed: Keisari Y, Springer, Dordrecht. Ch. 4, 61-75 (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-4694-7 4

- 65. Rong Yang, Clarence R. Reilly, Frederick J. Rescorla, Narendra T. Sanghvi, Francis J. Fry, Thomas D. Franklin, Jr, Jay L. Grosfeld: Effects of high-intensity focused ultrasound in the treatment of experimental neuroblastoma. J Pediatr Surg 27, 246-250 (1992) DOI: 10.1016/0022-3468(92)90321-W
- 66. Feng Wu, L. Zhou, W.R. Chen: Host antitumor immune response to HIFU ablation. Int J Hyperthermia 23, 165-71(2007) DOI: 10.1080/02656730701206638
- 67. D.E. Kruse, M.A. Mackanos, C.E. O'Connell-Rodwell, H. Contag, K.W. Ferrara: Shortduration-focused ultrasound stimulation of Hsp70 expression in vivo. Phys Med Biol 53. 3641-3660 (2008)

DOI: 10.1088/0031-9155/53/13/017

- 68. Walter Hundt, Caitlin E. O'Connell-Rodwell CE, Mark D. Bednarski, Slike Steinbach, Samira Guccione: In vitro effect of focused ultrasound or thermal stress on HSP70 expression and cell viability in three tumor cell lines. Acad Radiol 14, 859-870 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.acra.2007.04.008
- 69. Xiaoyi Huang, Fang Yuan, Meihua Liang, Hui-Wen Lo, Mai L Shinohara, Cary Robertson, Pei Zhong: M-HIFU inhibits tumor growth, suppresses STAT3 activity and enhances tumor specific immunity in a transplant tumor model of prostate cancer. PLoS One 7(7):e41632 (2012) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041632

70. Ji-Zhu Xia, Fang-Lin Xie, Li-Feng Ran, Xun-Peng Xie, Yan-Min Fan, Feng Wu: Highintensity focused ultrasound tumor ablation activates autologous tumor-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Ultrasound Med Biol 38, 1363-71 (2012)

DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2012.03.009

- 71. Johan Unga, Mitsuru Hashida: Ultrasound induced cancer immunotherapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 72, 144-153 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.addr.2014.03.004
- 72. Feng Wu. High intensity focused ultrasound ablation and antitumor immune response.

- J Acoust Soc Am 134, 1695-701 (2013) DOI: 10.1121/1.4812893
- 73. Michael S Sabel. The interrelationship between cryoablation, the immune response and the tumor microenvironment: stimulatory and suppressive effects. In: Tumor Ablation: effects on systemic and local anti-tumor immunity and on other tumormicroenvironment interactions. Ed: Keisari Y, Springer, Dordrecht. Ch. 5, 77-107 (2013)
- 74. Abhinav Sidana: Cancer immunotherapy using tumor cryoablation. Immunotherapy 6, 85-93 (2014) DOI: 10.2217/imt.13.151
- 75. Bjorn Nordenstrom: Biologically closed electric circuits: activation of vascular interstitial closed electric circuits for treatment of inoperable cancers. Bioelectricity 3, 137-153 (1984) DOI: 10.1080/15368378409035964
- 76. Yona Keisari. Rafi Korenstein. Anti-tumoral effects of pulsed low electric field enhanced chemotherapy: lessons from experimental malignant tumors. ln: Electroporation in laboratory and clinical investigations. Eds: Spugnini EP, Baldi A, Nova Science Publishers, Inc. Ch. 9, 167-204 (2012)
- 77. Yona Keisari, Rafi Korenstein. In-situ ablation of solid tumors by electric forces and its effect on the tumor microenvironment and antitumor immunity. In: Tumor Ablation: effects on systemic and local anti-tumor immunity on other tumor-microenvironment interactions. Ed: Keisari Y, Springer. Ch. 8, 133-153 (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-4694-7

- Shinichi Miyazaki, Yoshio Gunji, Hisahiro Matsubara, Hideaki Shimada, Masaya Uesato, Takao Suzuki, Teruo Kouzu, Takenori Ochiai: Possible involvement of antitumor immunity in the eradication of colon 26 induced by lowvoltage electrochemotherapy with bleomycin. Surg Today 33, 39-44 (2003) DOI: 10.1007/s005950300006
- Igor Entin, Alex Plotnikov, Rafi Korenstein, Yona Keisari: Tumor growth retardation, cure, and induction of anti tumor immunity in B16 melanoma bearing mice by low electric field enhanced chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res 9, 3190-3197 (2003)
- 80. Alex Plotnikov, Thomas Tichler, Korenstein, Yona Keisari: Involvement of the

immune response in the cure of metastatic murine CT-26 colon carcinoma by low electric field enhanced chemotherapy. *Int J Cancer* 117, 816-824 (2005)

DOI: 10.1002/ijc.21261

 Damijan Miklavčič, Barbara Mali, Bor Kos, Richard Heller, Gregor Serša: Electrochemotherapy: from the drawing board into medical practice. *Biomed Eng Online* 13, 29 (2014)

DOI: 10.1186/1475-925X-13-29

82. LluisM.Mir,StephanOrlowski,JeanBelehradek Jr, C. Paoletti: Electrochemotherapy: potentiation of antitumor effect of bleomycin by local electric pulses. *Eur J Cancer* 27:68-72 (1991)

DOI: 10.1016/0277-5379(91)90064-K

 Martin L. Yarmush, Alexander Golberg, Gregor Serša, Tadej Kotnik, Damijan Miklavčič: Electroporation-based technologies for medicine: principles, applications, and challenges. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng* 16, 295-320 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1146/

annurev-bioeng-071813-104622

- 84. Mikhail Silk, David Tahour, Govindarajan Srimathveeravalli, Stephen B. Solomon, Raymond H. Thornton: The state of irreversible electroporation in interventional oncology. Semin Intervent Radiol 31, 111-7 (2014) DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1373785
- Xiaoxiang Li, Kui Xu, Wei Li, Xiuchun Qiu, Baoan Ma, Qingyu Fan, Zhao Li: Immunologic response to tumor ablation with irreversible electroporation. *PLoS One* 7:e48749 (2012) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048749
- 86. Richard Nuccitelli, Kevin Tran, Kaying Lui, Joanne Huynh, Brian Athos, Mark Kreis, Pamela Nuccitelli, Edward C. De Fabo: Nonthermal nanoelectroablation of UV-induced murine melanomas stimulates an immune response. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res* 25, 618-29 (2012)

DOI: 10.1111/j.1755-148X.2012.01027.x

87. Ru Chen, Nova M. Sain, K. Tyler Harlow, Yeong-Jer Chen, Peter K. Shires, Richard Heller, Stephen J. Beebe: A protective effect after clearance of orthotopic rat hepatocellular carcinoma by nanosecond pulsed electric fields. *Eur J Cancer* 50, 2705-13 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2014.07.006 88. Giuseppe Palumbo: Photodynamic therapy and cancer: a brief sightseeing tour. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv* 4, 131-148 (2007) DOI: 10.1517/17425247.4.2.131

89. Patrizia Agostinis, Kristian Berg, Keith A. Cengel, Thomas H. Foster, Albert W. Girotti, Sandra O. Gollnick, Stephen M. Hahn, Michael R. Hamblin, Asta Juzeniene, David Kessel, Mladen Korbelik, Johan Moan, Pawel Mroz, Dominika Nowis, Jacques Piette, Brian C. Wilson, Jakub Golab: Photodynamic therapy of cancer: an update. *CA Cancer J Clin* 61, 250-281 (2011)

DOI: 10.3322/caac.20114

- Emilio J. Sanchez-Barcelo, Maria D. Mediavilla: Recent patents on light based therapies: photodynamic therapy, photothermal therapy and photoimmunotherapy. Recent Pat Endocr Metab Immune Drug Discov 8, 1-8 (2014) DOI: 10.2174/1872214807666131229103707
- 91. Mladen Korbelik. Tumor-Localized insult delivered by Photodynamic Therapy and the breakdown of tumor immunotolerance. In: Tumor Ablation: effects on systemic and local anti-tumor immunity and on other tumor-microenvironment interactions. Ed: Keisari Y. Springer, Dordrecht. Ch. 7,121-132 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-4694-7
- 92. Mladen Korbelik, Gorazd Krosl, Jana Krosl, Gaeme J. Dougherty: The role of host lymphoid populations in the response of mouse EMT6 tumor to photodynamic therapy. *Cancer Res* 56, 5647-52 (1996)
- Mladen Korbelik, Ivana Cecic: Contribution of myeloid and lymphoid host cells to the curative outcome of mouse sarcoma treatment by photodynamic therapy. *Cancer Lett* 137, 91-8 (1999)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0304-3835(98)00349-8
- 94. Pilaretos C. Kousis, Barbara W Henderson, Patricia G Maier, Sandra O Gollnick: Photodynamic therapy enhancement of antitumor immunity is regulated by neutrophils. Cancer Res 67, 10501-10 (2007) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1778
- 95. Dina Preise, Avigdor Scherz, Yoram Salomon: Antitumor immunity promoted by vascular occluding therapy: lessons from vasculartargeted photodynamic therapy (VTP). Photochem Photobiol Sci 10, 681-8 (2011) DOI: 10.1039/c0pp00315h

- Abhishek D. Garg, Patrizia Agostinis: ER stress, autophagy and immunogenic cell death in photodynamic therapy-induced anti-cancer immune responses. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* 13, 474-87 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1039/c3pp50333j
- 97. Mladen Korbelik: Cancer vaccines generated by photodynamic therapy. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* 10, 664-669 (2011) DOI: 10.1039/c0pp00343c
- Naoya Inoue, Seiji Yamasaki, Kan Kondo, Takatsugu Kan, Katsuyoshi Furumoto, Masayuki Imamura: Dendritic cells coinjected with tumor cells treated with an anticancer drug to induce tumor rejection. Surg Today 33, 269-76 (2003)

DOI: 10.1007/s005950300060

- 99. Noelia Casares, Marie O. Pequignot, Antoine Tesniere, François Ghiringhelli, Stéphan Roux, Nathalie Chaput, Elise Schmitt, Ahmed Hamai, Sandra Hervas-Stubbs, Michel Obeid, Frédéric Coutant, Didier Métivier, Evelyne Pichard, Pierre Aucouturier, Gérard Pierron, Carmen Garrido, Laurence Zitvogel, Guido Kroemer: Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. *J Exp Med* 202, 1691–1701(2005) DOI: 10.1084/jem.20050915
- 100. Michel Obeid, Antoine Tesniere, Francois Ghiringhelli, Gian Maria Fimia, Lionel Apetoh Jean-Luc Perfettini, Maria Castedo, Gregoire Mignot, Theoharis Panaretakis, Noelia Casares, Didier Metivier, Nathanael Larochette, Peter van Endert, Fabiola Ciccosanti, Mauro Piacentini, Laurence Zitvogel, Guido Kroemer: Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* 13, 54–61 (2007) DOI: 10.1038/nm1523
- 101. Lionel Apetoh, Francois Ghiringhelli, Antoine Tesniere, Alfredo Criollo, Carla Ortiz, Rosette Lidereau, Christophe Mariette, Nathalie Chaput, Jean-Paul Mira, Suzette Delaloge, Fabrice Andre, Thomas Tursz, Guido Kroemer, Laurence Zitvogel: The interaction between hmgb1 and tlr4 dictates the outcome of anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Immunol Rev* 220, 47–59 (2007) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00573.x
- 102. François Ghiringhelli, Lionel Apetoh, Antoine Tesniere, Laetitia Aymeric, Yuting Ma,

- Carla Ortiz, Karim Vermaelen, Theocharis Panaretakis, Grégoire Mignot, Evelyn Ullrich, Jean-Luc Perfettini, Frédéric Schlemmer, Ezgi Tasdemir, Martin Uhl, Pierre Génin, Ahmet Civas, Bernhard Ryffel, Jean Kanellopoulos, Jürg Tschopp, Fabrice André, Rosette Lidereau, Nicole M McLaughlin, Nicole M Haynes, Mark J Smyth, Guido Kroemer, Laurence Zitvogel: Activation of the nlrp3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces il-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* 15, 1170–1178 (2009) DOI: 10.1038/nm.2028
- 103. Laurence Zitvogel, Lionel Apetoh, François Ghiringhelli, Guido Kroemer: Immunological aspects of cancer chemotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol 8, 59-73 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/nri2216
- 104. Yuting Ma, Rosa Conforti, Laetitia Aymeric, Clara Locher, Oliver Kepp, Guido Kroemer, Laurence Zitvogel: How to improve the immunogenicity of chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Cancer Metastasis Rev 30, 71-82 (2011)

DOI: 10.1007/s10555-011-9283-2

- 105. Robert G. van der Most, Andrew Currie, Bbruce W. Robinson, Richard A Lake: Cranking the immunologic engine with chemotherapy: using context to drive tumor antigen crosspresentation towards useful antitumor immunity. Cancer Res 66, 601-4 (2006) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2967
- 106. Oliver Kepp, Lorenzo Galluzzi, Isabelle Martins. Frederic Schlemmer. Sandv Adjemian, Mickael Michaud, Abdul Qader Sukkurwala, Laurie Menger, Laurence Zitvogel, Guido Kroemer: Molecular determinants of immunogenic cell death elicited by anticancer chemotherapy. Cancer Metastasis Rev 30, 61-9 (2011) DOI: 10.1007/s10555-011-9273-4
- 107. Tarek M Meniawy, Anna K Nowak, Richard A Lake. Effect of chemotherapy on the tumor microenvironment and anti-tumor immunity. In: Tumor Ablation: effects on systemic and local anti-tumor immunity and on other tumor-microenvironment interactions. Ed: Keisari Y, Springer, Dordrecht. Ch. 1, 1-28 (2013)
- 108. Erika Vacchelli, Yuting Ma, Elisa E. Baracco, Antonella Sistigu, David P. Enot, Federico Pietrocola, Heng Yang, Sandy Adjemian,

337 © 1996-2017

Kariman Chaba, Michaela Semeraro, Michele Signore, Adele De Ninno, Valeria Lucarini, Francesca Peschiaroli, Luca Businaro, Annamaria Gerardino, Gwenola Manic, Thomas Ulas, Patrick Günther, Joachim L. Schultze, Oliver Kepp, Gautier Stoll, Céline Lefebvre, Claire Mulot, Francesca Castoldi, Sylvie Rusakiewicz, Sylvain Ladoire, Lionel Apetoh, José Manuel Bravo-San Pedro, Monica Lucattelli, Cécile Delarasse, Valérie Boige, Michel Ducreux, Suzette Delaloge, Christophe Borg, Fabrice André, Giovanna Schiavoni, Ilio Vitale, Pierre Laurent Puig, Fabrizio Mattei, Laurence Zitvogel, Guido Kroemer: Chemotherapy-induced antitumor immunity requires formyl peptide receptor 1. Science (2015) Oct 29. pii: aad0779. (Epub ahead of print)

- 109. Francois Ghiringhelli, Nicolas Larmonier, Elise Schmitt, Arnaud Parcellier, Dominique Cathelin, Carmen Garrido, Bruno Chauffert, Eric Solary, Bernard Bonnotte, Francois Martin: CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress tumor immunity but are sensitive cyclophosphamide which allows immunotherapy of established tumors to be curative. Eur J Immunol 34, 336-344 (2004) DOI: 10.1002/eji.200324181
- 110. Eiji Suzuki, Veena Kapoor, Arminder Singh Jassar, Larry R. Kaiser, Steven M. Albelda: Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. Clin Cancer Res 11, 6713-6721 (2005)

DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0883

111. Charlie T. Garnett, Jeffrey Schlom, James W. Hodge: Combination of docetaxel and recombinant vaccine enhances responses and antitumor activity: effects of docetaxel on immune enhancement. Clin Cancer Res 14, 3536-44 (2008)

DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4025

112. Alison M. McDonnell. Willem Joost Lesterhuis, Andrea Khong, Anna K. Nowak, Richard A. Lake, Andrew J. Currie, Bruce W. S. Robinson: Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells exhibit defective cross-presentation of tumor antigens, but is reversed by chemotherapy. Eur J Immunol 45, 49-59 (2015) DOI: 10.1002/eji.201444722

113. Julien Taieb, Nathalie Chaput, Cédric Ménard,

Lionel Apetoh, Evelyn Ullrich, Mathieu Bonmort, Marie Péquignot, Noelia Casares, Magali Terme, Caroline Flament, Paule Opolon, Yann Lecluse, Didier Métivier, Elena Tomasello, Eric Vivier, François Ghiringhelli, François Martin, David Klatzmann, Thierry Poynard, Thomas Tursz, Graça Raposo, Hideo Yagita, Bernard Ryffel, Guido Kroemer Laurence Zitvogel: A novel dendritic cell subset involved in tumor immunosurveillance. Nature Med 12, 214-219 (2006)

DOI: 10.1038/nm1356

114. Vinod P. Balachandran, Michael J. Cavnar, Shan Zeng, Zubin M. Bamboat, Lee M. Ocuin, Hebroon Obaid, Eric C. Sorenson, Rachel Popow, Charlotte Ariyan, Ferdinand Rossi, Peter Besmer, Tianhua Gu, Cristina R. Antonescu, Takahiro Taguchi, Jianda Yuan, Jedd D. Wolchok, James P. Allison, Ronald P. DeMatteo: Imatinib potentiates antitumor T cell responses in gastrointestinal stromal tumor through the inhibition of Ido. Nat Med 17. 1094-1100 (2011)

DOI: 10.1038/nm.2438

115. Dennie Tompers Frederick, Adriano Piris, Alexandria P. Cogdill, Zachary A. Cooper, Cecilia Lezcano, Cristina R. Ferrone, Devarati Mitra, Andrea Boni, Lindsay P. Newton, Chengwen Liu, Weiyi Peng, Ryan J Sullivan, Donald P. Lawrence, F. Stephen Hodi, Willem W. Overwijk, Gregory Lizée, George F. Murphy, Patrick Hwu, Keith T. Flaherty, David E. Fisher, Jennifer A. Wargo: BRAF inhibition is associated with enhanced melanoma antigen expression and a more favorable tumor microenvironment in patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 19, 1225-31 (2013)

DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1630

116. Stephanie C. Casey, Yulin Li, Dean W. Felsher: An essential role for the immune system in the mechanism of tumor regression following targeted oncogene inactivation. Immunol Res 58, 282-91 (2014)

DOI: 10.1007/s12026-014-8503-6

- 117. Silvia Salvadori, Giorgio Martinelli, Karen Zier: Resection of solid tumors reverses T cell defects and restores protective immunity. J Immunol 164, 2214–20 (2000) DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.4.2214
- 118. Erika A. Danna, Pratima Sinha, Mileka Gilbert, Virginia K. Clements, Beth A Pulaski,

338 © 1996-2017 Suzanne Ostrand-Rosenberg: Surgical removal of primary tumor reverses tumor-induced immunosuppression despite the presence of metastatic disease. *Cancer Res* 64, 2205–11 (2004)

DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-2646

- 119. Ralph E Vatner, Benjamin T Cooper, Clair Vanpouille-Box, Sandra Demaria, Silvia C Formenti: Combinations of immunotherapy and radiation in cancer therapy. Front Oncol 4, 325 (2014)
- 120. Christian Bode, Gan Zhao, Folkert Steinhagen, Takeshi Kinjo, Dennis M Klinman: CpG DNA as a vaccine adjuvant. Expert Rev Vaccines 10, 499-511 (2011) DOI: 10.1586/erv.10.174
- 121. Roger G van der Most, Robyn Himbeck, Simon Aarons, Stephen J. Carter, Irma Larma, Cleo Robinson, Andrew Currie, Richard A Lake: Antitumor efficacy of the novel chemotherapeutic agent coramsine is potentiated by cotreatment with CpG-containing oligodeoxynucleotides. *J Immunother* 29, 134-142 (2006) DOI: 10.1097/01.cji.0000187958.38179.a9
- 122. Roger G van der Most, Andrew J Currie, Bruce W Robinson, Richard A Lake: Decoding dangerous death: how cytotoxic chemotherapy invokes inflammation, immunity or nothing at all. Cell Death Differ 15, 13-20 (2008). DOI: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402255
- 123. Robert E. Roses, Min Xu, Gary K. Koski, Brian J. Czerniecki: Radiation therapy and Toll-like receptor signaling: implications for the treatment of cancer. *Oncogene* 27, 200-207 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210909
- 124. Stephan Roux, Claire Bernat, **Bassim** Al-Sakere, Francois Ghiringhelli, Paula Opolon, Antoine F. Carpentier, Laurence Zitvogel, Lluis M. Mir, Caroline Robert: Tumor destruction using electrochemotherapy followed by CpG oligodeoxynucleotide injection induces distant tumor responses. Cancer *Immunol* Immunother 57, 1291-300 (2008) DOI: 10.1007/s00262-008-0462-0
- 125. Yumin Xia, Gaurav K. Gupta, Ana P. Castano, Pawel Mroz, Pinar Avci, Michael R. Hamblin: CpG oligodeoxynucleotide as immune adjuvant enhances photodynamic therapy

- response in murine metastatic breast cancer. *J Biophotonics* 7, 897-905 (2014) DOI: 10.1002/jbio.201300072
- 126. Martijn H.M.G.M. den Brok, Roger P.M. Sutmuller, Stefan Nierkens, Erik J. Bennink, Liza W.J. Toonen, Carl G. Figdor, Theo J.M. Ruers, Gosse J. Adema: Synergy between in situ cryoablation and TLR9 stimulation results in a highly effective *in vivo* dendritic cell vaccine. *Cancer Res* 66, 7285-92 (2006) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0206
- 127. Liangran Guo, Daisy D. Yan, Dongfang Yang, Yajuan Li, Xiaodong Wang, Olivia Zalewski, Bingfang Yan, Wei Lu: Combinatorial photothermal and immuno cancer therapy using chitosan-coated hollow copper sulfide nanoparticles. ACS Nano 8, 5670-81 (2014) DOI: 10.1021/nn5002112
- 128. Ken Kageyama, Akira Yamamoto, Tomohisa Okuma, Shinichi Hamamoto, Toru Takeshita, Yukimasa Sakai, Norifumi Nishida, Toshiyuki Matsuoka, Yukio Miki: Radiofrequency ablation of liver tumors in combination with local OK-432 injection prolongs survival and suppresses distant tumor growth in the rabbit model with intra- and extrahepatic VX2 tumors. *Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol* 36, 1383-92 (2013)

 DOI: 10.1007/s00270-013-0650-y
- 129. Shinichi Hamamoto, Tomohisa Okuma, Akira Yamamoto, Ken Kageyama, Toru Takeshita, Yukimasa Sakai, Norifumi Nishida, Toshiyuki Matsuoka, Yukio Miki: Radiofrequency ablation and immunostimulant OK-432: combination therapy enhances systemic antitumor immunity for treatment of VX2 lung tumors in rabbits. *Radiology* 267, 405-13 (2013) DOI: 10.1148/radiol.13120249
- 130. Martijn H. M. G. M. den den Brok, Stefan Nierkens, Jori A. Wagenaars, Theo J. Ruers, Carla C. Schrier, Eric O. Rijke, Gosse J Adema: Saponin-based adjuvants create a highly effective anti-tumor vaccine when combined with *in situ* tumor destruction. *Vaccine* 30, 737-44 (2012)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.11.080
- 131. Feifan Zhou, Xiaosong Li, Mark F. Naylor, Tomas Hode, Robert E. Nordquist, Luciano Alleruzzo, Joseph Raker, Samuel S.K. Lam, Nan Du, Lei Shi, Xiuli Wang, Wei R. Chen:

- InCVAX--a novel strategy for treatment of late-stage, metastatic cancers through photoimmunotherapy induced tumor-specific immunity. Cancer Lett 359, 169-77 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015.01.029
- 132. Eric J. Friedman. Charles R. Orth. Kevin A. Brewton, Sathibalan Ponniah, Richard B. Alexander: Cryosurgical ablation of the normal ventral prostate plus adjuvant does not protect Copenhagen rats from Dunning prostatic adenocarcinoma challenge. J Urol 158. 1585-8 (1997) DOI: 10.1016/S0022-5347(01)64284-8
- 133. Chan Gao, Anna Kozlowska, Sergey Nechaev, Haiging Li, Qifang Zhang, Dewan MS Hossain, Claudia M Kowolik, Peiguo Chu, Piotr Swiderski, Don J Diamond, Sumanta K Pal, Andrew Raubitschek, Marcin Kortylewski: TLR9 signaling in the tumor microenvironment initiates cancer recurrence after radiotherapy. Cancer Res 73, 7211-21 (2013) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1314
- 134. Zhenlin Hu, Xiao Yi Yang, Yunbo Liu, Michael A. Morse, H. Kim Lyerly, Timothy M. Clay, Pei Zhong: Release of endogenous danger signals from HIFU-treated tumor cells and their stimulatory effects on APCs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 335, 124-31 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.07.071
- 135. J. Deng, Y. Zhang, J. Feng, Feng Wu: Dendritic cells loaded with ultrasound-ablated tumor induced in vivo specific antitumor immune responses. Ultrasound Med Biol 36. 441-448 (2010)
 - DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2009.12.004
- 136. Zenlin Hu, Xiao Yi Yang, Yunbo Liu, Gregory N Sankin, Eric C Pua, Michael A Morse, H Kim Lyerly, Timothy M Clay, Pei Zhong: Investigation of HIFU-induced anti-tumor immunity ib amuurine tumor model. J Transl Med 5, 34 (2007)
 - DOI: 10.1186/1479-5876-5-34
- 137. Martijn H. M. G. M. den den Brok, Roger P. M. Sutmuller, Stefan Nierkens, Erik J. Bennink, C. Frielink, Liza W. Toonen, O. C Boerman, Carl G. Figdor, Theo J. Ruers, Gosse J. Adema: Efficient loading of dendritic cells following cryo and radiofrequency ablation in combination with immune modulation induces anti-tumour immunity. Br J Cancer 95, 896-905 (2006).

- DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603341
- 138. Zoya Alteber, Meir Azulay, Gal Cafri, Esther Ezra Vadai. Tzehoval, Lea Eisenbach: Cryoimmunotherapy with local co-administration of exvivo generated dendritic cells and CpG-ODN immune adjuvant, elicits a specific antitumor immunity. Cancer Immunol Immunother 63, 369-80 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s00262-014-1520-4
- 139. Hidetoshi Nakagawa, Eishiro Mizukoshi, Noriho lida, Takeshi Terashima, Masaaki Kitahara, Yohei Marukawa, Kazuya Kitamura, Yasunari Nakamoto, Kazumasa Hiroishi, Nichio Imawari, Shuichi Kaneko: In vivo immunological antitumor effect of OK-432stimulated dendritic cell transfer after radiofrequency ablation. Cancer Immunol Immunother 63, 347-56 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s00262-013-1514-7
- 140. Lluis M. Mir. Stephane Orlowski. Bruno Poddevin, Belehradek: Jean Electrochemotherapy tumor treatment is improved by IL-2 stimulation of the host defences. Eur Cytokine Netw 3, 331-338 (1992)
- 141. L. Heller, Carlos Pottinger, Mark J. Jaroszeski, Richard Gilbert, Richard Heller: In vivo electroporation of plasmids encoding GM-CSF or interleukin-2 into existing B16 melanomas combined with electrochemotherapy induces long-term antitumour immunity. Melanoma Res 10, 577-583 (2000) DOI: 10.1097/00008390-200012000-00010
- 142. Gregor Sersa, Justin Teissie, Maja Cemazar, Emanuela Signori, Urska Kamensek. Guillermo Marshall, Damijan Miklavcic: Electrochemotherapy of tumors situ vaccination boosted by immunogene electrotransfer. Cancer Immunol Immunother 64. 1315-27 (2015)
 - DOI: 10.1007/s00262-015-1724-2
- 143. Koichiro Saito, Koji Araki, Nishant Reddy, Wei Guang, Bert W. O'Malley, Daqing Li: Enhanced local dendritic cell activity and tumor-specific immunoresponse in combined radiofrequency ablation and interleukin-2 for the treatment of human head and neck cancer in a murine orthotopic model. Head Neck 33, 359-67 (2011)
- 144. Erik E. Johnson, Brett H. Yamane, Ilia N.

Buhtoiarov, Hillary D. Lum, Alexander L. Rakhmilevich, David M. Mahvi, Stephen D. Gillies, Paul M. Sondel: Radiofrequency ablation combined with KS-IL2 immunocytokine (EMD 273066) results in an enhanced antitumor effect against murine colon adenocarcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* 15, 4875-84 (2009) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0110

145. Chi-Shiun Chiang, Ji-Hong Hong, Yuan Chou Wu, William H McBride, Graeme J Dougherty: Combining radiation therapy with interleukin-3 gene immunotherapy. *Cancer Gene Ther* 7, 1172-8 (2000)

DOI: 10.1038/sj.cgt.7700217

146. Arunika Mukhopadhaya, Joseph Mendecki, Xinyuan Dong, Laibin Liu, Shalom Kalnicki, Madhur Garg, Alan Alfieri, and Chandan Guha: Localized hyperthermia combined with intratumoral dendritic cells induces systemic antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* 67, 7798-806 (2007)

DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0203

- 147. Sofia R Gameiro, Jack P Higgins, Matthew R Dreher, David L Woods, Goutham Reddy, Bradford J Wood, Chandan Guha, James W Hodge: Combination therapy with local radiofrequency ablation and systemic vaccine enhances antitumor immunity and mediates local and distal tumor regression. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(7):e70417 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070417
- 148. Benjamin Frey, Yvonne Rubner, Lorenz Kulzer, Nina Werthmoller, Eva-Maria Weiss, Rainer Fietkau, Udo S. Gaipl: Antitumor immune responses induced by ionizing irradiation and further immune stimulation. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 63, 29-36 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s00262-013-1474-v
- 149. Richmond T. Prehn, Lisa M. Prehn: The flip side of immune surveillance: immune dependency. *Immunol Rev* 222, 341-56 (2008) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00609.x
- 150. Robert J. North: Gamma-irradiation facilitates the expression of adoptive immunity against established tumors by eliminating suppressor T cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother 16, 175-81 (1984) DOI: 10.1007/BF00205425

151. Dmitry I. Gabrilovich, Suzanne Ostrand-Rosenberg, Vincenzo Bronte: Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nat* Rev Immunol 12, 253-68 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/nri3175

152. C. Tanchot, M. Terme, H. Pere, T. Tran, N. Benhamouda, M. Strioga, C. Banissi, L. Galluzzi, G. Kroemer, E. Tartour: Tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells: phenotype, role, mechanism of expansion in situ and clinical significance. *Cancer Microenviron* 6, 147-57 (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/s12307-012-0122-y

- 153. Ashish Banerjee, Ajithkumar Vasanthakumar, George Grigoriadis: Modulating T regulatory cells in cancer: how close are we? *Immunol Cell Biol* 91, 340-9 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/icb.2013.12
- 154. K. Oleinika, R.J. Nibbs, G.J. Graham, A.R. Fraser: Suppression, subversion and escape: the role of regulatory T cells in cancer progression. *Clin Exp Immunol* 171, 36-45 (2013) DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2012.04657.x
- 155. Noelia Casares, Laura Arribillaga, Pablo Sarobe, Javier Dotor, Ascension Lopez-Diaz de Cerio, Ignacio Melero, Jesus Prieto, Francisco Borrás-Cuesta, Juan J. Lasarte: CD4+/CD25+ regulatory cells inhibit activation of tumor-primed CD4+ T cells with IFN-gamma-dependent antiangiogenic activity, as well as long-lasting tumor immunity elicited by peptide vaccination. *J Immunol* 171, 5931-5939 (2003). DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.11.5931

156. Steffen Walter, Toni Weinschenk, Arnulf Stenzl, Romuald Zdrojowy, Anna Pluzanska, Cezary Szczylik, Michael Staehler, Wolfram Brugger, Pierre-Yves Dietrich, Mendrzyk, Norbert Hilf, Oliver Schoor, Jens Fritsche, Andrea Mahr, Dominik Maurer, Verona Vass, Claudia Trautwein, Peter Lewandrowski, Christian Flohr, Heike Pohla, Janusz J Stanczak, Vincenzo Bronte, Susanna Mandruzzato, Tilo Biedermann, Graham Pawelec, Evelyna Derhovanessian, Hisakazu Yamagishi, Tsuneharu Miki, Fumiya Hongo, Natsuki Takaha. Kosei Hirakawa. Hiroaki Tanaka, Stefan Stevanovic, Jürgen Frisch, Andrea Mayer-Mokler, Alexandra Kirner, Hans-Georg Rammensee, Carsten Reinhardt, Harpreet Singh-Jasuja: Multipeptide immune

response to cancer vaccine IMA901 after

single-dose cyclophosphamide associates

with longer patient survival. Nat Med 18, 1254-61 (2012)

DOI: 10.1038/nm.2883

- 157. Sergei Kusmartsev, Fengdong Cheng, Bin Yu, Yulia Nefedova, Eduardo Sotomayor, Richard Lush, Dmitry Gabrilovich: All- trans-Retinoic Acid Eliminates Immature Myeloid Cells from Tumor-bearing Mice and Improves the Effect of Vaccination. Cancer Res 63, 4441-4449 (2003)
- 158. Cristina Iclozan, Scott Antonia, Alberto Chiappori, Dung-Tsa Chen, and Dmitry Gabrilovich: Therapeutic regulation myeloid-derived suppressor cells and immune response to cancer vaccine in patients with extensive stage small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother 62, 909-18 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s00262-013-1396-8
- 159. Suresh Kalathil, Amit A. Lugade, Austin Miller, Renuka Iyer, Yasmin Thanavala: Higher frequencies of GARP(+)CTLA-4(+)Foxp3(+) T regulatory cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells in hepatocellular carcinoma patients are associated with impaired T-cell functionality. Cancer Res 73, 2435-44 (2013) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3381
- 160. Jingving Xu. Jemima Escamilla. Stephen Mok, John David, Saul Priceman, Brian West, Gideon Bollag, William McBride, Lily Wu: CSF1R signaling blockade stanches tumorinfiltrating myeloid cells and improves the efficacy of radiotherapy in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 73, 2782-94 (2013) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3981
- 161. T. Schneider, Alexandra Sevko, C.P Heussel, Luba Umansky, Philipp Beckhove, H Dienemann, S Safi, Jochen Utikal, H Hoffmann, Viktor Umansky: Serum inflammatory factors and circulating immunosuppressive cells are predictive markers for efficacy of radiofrequency ablation in non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Exp Immunol 180, 467-474 (2015) DOI: 10.1111/cei.12596
- 162. Ana P. Castano, Pawel Mroz, Mmei X. Wu, Michael R. Hamblin: Photodynamic therapy plus low-dose cyclophosphamide generates antitumor immunity in a mouse model. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105, 5495-500 (2008) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0709256105
- 163. Eleonora Reginato, Pawel Mroz, H. Chung, M. Kawakubo, Peter Wolf, Michael R. Hamblin:

- Photodynamic therapy plus regulatory T-cell depletion produces immunity against a mouse tumour that expresses a self-antigen. Br J Cancer 109, 2167-74 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2013.580
- 164. Paula D. Bos, George Plitas, Dipayan Rudra, Sue Y. Lee, Alexander Y. Rudensky: Transient regulatory T cell ablation deters oncogene-driven breast cancer and enhances radiotherapy. J Exp Med 210, 2435-66 (2013) DOI: 10.1084/jem.20130762
- 165. Moshe Yair Levy, Abhinav Sidana, Wasim H. Chowdhury, Steven B. Solomon, Charles G. Drake, Ronald Rodriguez, and Ephraim J. Fuchs: Cyclophosphamide unmasks an antimetastatic effect of local tumor cryoablation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 330, 596-601 (2009) DOI: 10.1124/jpet.109.152603
- 166. M. Zahidunnabi Dewan, Claire Vanpouille-Box, Noriko Kawashima, Sara DiNapoli, James S. Babb, Silvia C. Formenti, Sylvia Adams, Sandra Demaria: Synergy of topical toll-like receptor 7 agonist with radiation and low-dose cyclophosphamide in a mouse model of cutaneous breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 18, 6668-78 (2012) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-0984
- 167. Miki Tongu, Nanae Harashima, Hiroyuki Monma, Touko Inao, Takaya Yamada, Hideyuki Kawauchi, Mamoru Harada: chemotherapy Metronomic with lowdose cyclophosphamide plus gemcitabine can induce anti-tumor T cell immunity in vivo. Cancer Immunol Immunother 62, 383-91 (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/s00262-012-1343-0

- 168. Christiane Meyer, Alexandra Sevko, Marcel Ramacher, Alexandr V. Bazhin, Christine S. Falk, Wolfram Osen, Ivan Borrello, Masashi Kato, Dirk Schadendorf, Michal Baniyash, Viktor Umansky: Chronic inflammation promotes myeloid-derived suppressor cell activation blocking antitumor immunity in transgenic mouse melanoma model. Proc. Natl Acad Sci USA 108, 17111-6 (2011) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1108121108
- 169. Chrystal M. Paulos, Andrew Kaiser, Claudia Wrzesinski, Christian S. Hinrichs, Lydie Cassard, Andrea Boni, Pawel Muranski, Luis Sanchez-Perez, Douglas C. Palmer, Zhiya

- Yu, Paul A. Antony, Luca Gattinoni, Steven A. Rosenberg, Nicholas P. Restifo: Toll-like receptors in tumor immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res* 13, 5280-9 (2007) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1378
- 170. Florencia Paula Madorsky Rowdo, Antonela Baron, Mariela Urrutia, Jose Mordoh: Immunotherapy in Cancer: A Combat between Tumors and the Immune System; You Win Some, You Lose Some. Front Immunol 6, 127 (2015)
- 171. Zubing Chen, Shiqiang Shen, Baogang Peng, Jianpin Tao: Intratumoural GM-CSF microspheres and CTLA-4 blockade enhance the antitumour immunity induced by thermal ablation in a subcutaneous murine hepatoma model. *Int J Hyperthermia* 25, 374-82 (2009) DOI: 10.1080/02656730902976807
- 172. Rebecca Waitz, Stephen B. Solomon, Elena N. Petre, Anne E. Trumble, Marcella Fassò, Larry Norton, James P. Allison: Potent induction of tumor immunity by combining tumor cryoablation with anti-CTLA-4 therapy. Cancer Res 72, 430-9 (2012) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1782
- 173. Sungjune Kim, Rupal Ramakrishnan, Sergio Lavilla-Alonso, Prakash Chinnaiyan, Nikhil Rao, Erin Fowler, John Heine, Dmitry I. Gabrilovich: Radiation-induced autophagy potentiates immunotherapy of cancer via up-regulation of mannose 6-phosphate receptor on tumor cells in mice. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 63, 1009-21 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s00262-014-1573-4
- 174. Claire Vanpouille-Box, Karsten A. Pilones, Erik Wennerberg, Silvia C. Formenti, Sandra Demaria: In situ vaccination by radiotherapy to improve responses to anti-CTLA-4 treatment. Vaccine (2015) Jul 3. pii: S0264-410X(15)00911-1
- 175. Anna K. Nowak, Bruce W. S. Robinson, Richard A. Lake: Synergy between chemotherapy and immunotherapy in the treatment of established murine solid tumors. *Cancer Res* 63, 4490-6 (2003)
- 176. Steve Broomfield, Andrew Currie, Robbert G. van der Most, Matthew Brown, Ivonne van Bruggen, Bruce WS Robinson, Richard A. Lake: Partial, but not complete, tumor-debulking surgery promotes protective antitumor memory when combined with

- chemotherapy and adjuvant immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* 65, 7580-4 (2005)
- 177. Andrea Khong, Della J. Nelson, Anna K. Nowak, Richard A. Lake, Bruce W. S. Robinson: The use of agonistic anti-CD40 therapy in treatments for cancer. *Int Rev Immunol* 31, 246-66 (2012) DOI: 10.3109/08830185.2012.698338
- 178. W. Joost Lesterhuis, Joanne Salmons, Anna K. Nowak, Esdy N. Rozali, Andrea Khong, Ian M. Dick, Julie A. Harken, Bruce W. Robinson, Richard A. Lake: Synergistic effect of CTLA-4 blockade and cancer chemotherapy in the induction of anti-tumor immunity. *PLoS One* 8(4):e61895 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061895
- 179. Robert H. Vonderheide: CD47 blockade as another immune checkpoint therapy for cancer. *Nat Med* 21, 1122-3 (2015) DOI: 10.1038/nm.3965
- 180. David R. Soto-Pantoja, Masaki Terabe, Arunima Ghosh, Lisa A. Ridnour, William G. DeGraff: CD47 in the tumor microenvironment limits cooperation between antitumor T-cell immunity and radiotherapy. Cancer Res 74, 6771-83 (2014) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0037-T
- 181. Jie Liu, Lijuan Wang, Feifei Zhao, Serena Tseng, Cyndhavi Narayanan, Lei Shura, Stephen Willingham, Maureen Howard, Susan Prohaska, Jens Volkmer, Mark Chao, Irving L. Weissman, Ravindra Majeti: Pre-Clinical Development of a Humanized Anti-CD47 Antibody with Anti-Cancer Therapeutic Potential. *PLoS One* 10(9):e0137345 (2015) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137345
- 182. Adham S. Bear, Laura C. Kennedy, Joseph K. Young, Serena K. Perna1, Joao Paulo Mattos Almeida, Adam Y. Lin, Phillip C. Eckels, Rebekah A. Drezek, Aaron E. Foster: Elimination of metastatic melanoma using gold nanoshell-enabled photothermal therapy and adoptive T cell transfer. *PLoS One* 8(7):e69073 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069073
- 183. Dorthe Schaue, Begonya Comin-Anduix, AntoniRibas, Li Zhang, LeeGoodglick, James W.Sayre, Annelies Debucquoy, KarinHaustermans, William H. McBrid: T-Cell Responses to Survivin in Cancer Patients Undergoing Radiation Therapy. Clin Cancer

343 © 1996-2017

- Res 14, 4883-4890 (2008) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4462
- 184. Charlie Garnett-Benson, James W. Hodge, Sofia R. Gameiro: Combination regimens of radiation therapy and therapeutic cancer vaccines: mechanisms and opportunities. Semin Radiat Oncol 25, 46-53 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.semradonc.2014.07.002
- 185. Luis de la Cruz-Merino, Ana Illescas-Vacas, Ana Grueso-López, Antonio Barco-Sánchez, Carlos Míguez-Sánchez and Cancer Immunotherapies Spanish Group (GETICA): Radiation for Awakening the Dormant Immune System, a Promising Challenge to be Explored. Front Immunol 5, 102 (2014) DOI: 10.3.389/fimmu.2014.0.0102. eCollection 2014
- 186. Anusha Kalbasi, Carl H. June, Naomi Haas, Neha Vapiwala: Radiation and immunotherapy: a synergistic combination. *J Clin Invest* 123, 2756-63 (2013) DOI: 10.1172/JCl69219
- 187. Hui-Ming Chen, Ge Ma, Neil Gildener-Leapman, Samuel Eisenstein, Brian A. Coakley, Junko Ozao, John Mandeli, Celia Divino, Myron Schwartz, Max Sung, Robert Ferris, Johnny Kao, Lu-Hai Wang, Ping-Ying Pan, Eric C. Ko, Shu-Hsia Chen: Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells as an Immune Parameter in Patients with Concurrent Sunitinib and Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res* 21, 4073-4085 (2015)
- 188. Mona Y. Ali, Christian F. Grimm, Marcus Ritter, Leonhard Mohr, Hans-Peter Allgaier, Robert Weth, Wulf O. Bocher, Katja Endrulat, Hubert E. Blum, Michael Geissler: Activation of dendritic cells by local ablation of hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol* 43, 817-22 (2005)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2005.04.016
- 189. Johannes Hänsler, Thaddäus Till Wissniowski, Detlef Schuppan, Astrid Witte, Thomas Bernatik, Eckhart Georg Hahn and Deike Strobel: Activation and dramatically increased cytolytic activity of tumor specific T lymphocytes after radio-frequency ablation in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and colorectal liver metastases. World J Gastroenterol 12, 3716-21 (2006) DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i23.3716

- 190. Chiara Napoletano, Federica Taurino, Mauro Biffoni, Adriano De Majo, Giorgio Coscarella, Filippo Bellati, Hassan Rahimi, Simona Pauselli, Ilenia Pellicciotta, Joy M. Burchell, Lucio Achille Gaspari, Lucia Ercoli, Piero Rossi, Aurelia Rughetti: RFA strongly modulates the immune system and antitumor immune responses in metastatic liver patients. Int J Oncol 32, 481-490 (2008) DOI: 10.3892/ijo.32.2.481
- 191. Alessandro Zerbini. Massimo Pilli. Francesco Fagnoni, Guido Pelosi, Maria Grazia Pizzi, Simona Schivazappa, Diletta Laccabue, Cristina Cavallo, Claudia Schianchi, Carlo Ferrari, Gabriele Missale: Increased immunostimulatory activity conferred to antigen-presenting cells by exposure to antigen extract from hepatocellular carcinoma radiofrequency after thermal ablation. J Immunother 31, 271-82 (2008) DOI: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e318160ff1c
- 192. Francesco F. Fagnoni, Alessandro Zerbini, Guido Pelosi, Gabriele Missale: Combination of radiofrequency ablation and immunotherapy. Front Biosci 13, 369-81 (2008) DOI: 10.2741/2686
- 193. Alessandro Zerbini, Massimo Pilli, Diletta Laccabue, Guido Pelosi, Atim Molinari, Elisa Negri, Simona Cerioni, Francesco Fagnoni, Paolo Soliani, Carlo Ferrari: Radiofrequency thermal ablation for hepatocellular carcinoma stimulates autologous NK-cell response. *Gastroenterology* 138, 1931-1942 (2010) DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.12.051
- 194. H. Ma, Y. Zhang, Q. Wang, Y. Li, J. He, H. Wang, J. Sun, K. Pan, M. Chen, J. Xia: Therapeutic safety and effects of adjuvant autologous RetroNectin activated killer cell immunotherapy for patients with primary hepatocellular carcinoma after radiofrequency ablation. *Cancer Biol Ther* 9, 903-7 (2010) DOI: 10.4161/cbt.9.11.11697
- 195. Kazumasa Hiroishi, Junichi Eguchi, Toshiyuki Baba, Tomoe Shimazaki, Shigeaki Ishii, Ayako Hiraide, Masashi Sakaki, Hiroyoshi Doi, Shojiro Uozumi, Risa Omori, Takuya Matsumura, Tatsuro Yanagawa, Takayoshi Ito, Michio Imawari: Strong CD8(+) T-cell responses against tumor-associated antigens prolong the recurrence-free interval after tumor treatment in patients with hepatocellular

- carcinoma. *J gastroenterol* 45, 451-458 (2010) DOI: 10.1007/s00535-009-0155-2
- 196. Eishiro Mizukoshi, Tatsuya Yamashita, Kuniaki Arai, Hajime Sunagozaka, Teruyuki Ueda, Fumitaka Arihara, Takashi Kagaya, Taro Yamashita, Kazumi Fushimi, and Shuichi Kaneko: Enhancement of tumorassociated antigen-specific T cell responses by radiofrequency ablation of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* 57, 1448-57 (2013) DOI: 10.1002/hep.26153
- 197. Fumitaka Arihara, Eishiro Mizukoshi, Masaaki Kitahara, Yoshiko Takata, Kuniaki Arai, Tatsuya Yamashita, Yasunari Nakamoto, Shuichi Kaneko. Increase in CD14+HLA-DR-/low myeloid-derived suppressor cells in hepatocellular carcinoma patients and its impact on prognosis. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 62, 1421-30 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s00262-013-1447-1
- 198. Marcin Matuszewski, Jerzy Michajłowski, Igor Michajłowski, Katarzyna Ruckermann-Dizurdzinska, Jacek M. Witkowski, Wojciech Biernat, Kazimierz Krajka: Impact of radiofrequency ablation on PBMC subpopulation in patients with renal cell carcinoma. *Urol Oncol* 29, 724-30 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2009.11.021
- 199. Melanie Widenmeyer, Yuriy Shebzukhov, Sebastian P. Haen, Diethard Schmidt, Stephan Clasen, Andreas Boss, Dmitri V. Kuprash, Sergei A. Nedospasov, Arnulf Stenzl, Hermann Aebert, Dorothee Wernet, Stefan Stevanović, Philippe L. Pereira, Hans-Georg Rammensee, Cécile Gouttefangeas: Analysis of tumor antigen-specific T cells and antibodies in cancer patients treated with radiofrequency ablation. *Int J Cancer* 128, 2653-62 (2011)
- 200. Sebastian P. Haen, Cécile Gouttefangeas, Diethard Schmidt, Andreas Boss, Stephan Clasen, Alexandra von Herbay, Bora Kosan, Hermann Aebert, Philippe L. Pereira, Hans-Georg Rammensee: Elevated serum levels of heat shock protein 70 can be detected after radiofrequency ablation. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 16, 495-504 (2011) DOI: 10.1007/s12192-011-0261-y
- 201. Jun Guo, Jun Zhu, Xinan Sheng, Xiaopei Wang, Li Qu, Yan Han, Yuexiang Liu, Hui

- Zhang, Ling Huo, Shuhui Zhang, Baohe Lin, Zhi Yang: Intratumoral injection of dendritic cells in combination with local hyperthermia induces systemic antitumor effect in patients with advanced melanoma. *Int J Cancer* 120, 2418-2425 (2007)
- DOI: 10.1002/ijc.22551
- 202. Thomas Josef Vogl, Thaddäus T. Wissniowski, Nagy N. N. Naguib, Renate M. Hammerstingl, Martin G. Mack, Sabine Münch, Matthias Ocker, Deike Strobel, Eckhart G. Hahn, Johannes Hänsler. Activation of tumorspecific T lymphocytes after laser-induced thermotherapy in patients with colorectal liver metastases. Cancer Immunol Immunother 58, 1557-63 (2009)
 - DOI: 10.1007/s00262-009-0663-1
- 203. Xiaosong Li, Mark F Naylor, Henry Le, Robert E Nordquist, T Kent Teague, C Anthony Howard, Cynthia Murray, Wei R Chen: Clinical effects of in situ photoimmunotherapy on late-stage melanoma patients A preliminary study. *Cancer Biol Ther* 10, 1081–1087 (2010) DOI: 10.4161/cbt.10.11.13434
- 204. D.F. Rosberger, D.J. Coleman, R. Silverman, S. Woods, M. Rondeau, S. Cunningham-Rundles: Immunomodulation in choroidal melanoma: Reversal of inverted CD4/CD8 ratios following treatment with ultrasonic hyperthermia. *Biotechnol Ther* 5, 59–68 (1994)
- 205. Xiancheng Wang X, Jiaming Sun: Highintensity focused ultrasound in patients with late-stage pancreatic carcinoma. *Chin Med J* (Engl.) 115, 1332–1335 (2002)
- 206. Feng Wu, Zhi-Biao Wang, Pei Lu, Zhong-Li Xu, Wen-Zhi Chen, Hui Zhu, Cheng-Bing Jin: Activated anti-tumor immunity in cancer patients after high intensity focused ultrasound ablation. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 30, 1217-1222 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2004.08.003
- 207. Gero Kramer, Georg E. Steiner, Marion Gröbl, Kristian Hrachowitz, Franz Reithmayr, Ljubomir Paucz, Martin Newman, Stephan Madersbacher, Diego Gruber, Martin Susani, Michael Marberger: Response to sublethal heat treatment of prostatic tumor cells and of prostatic tumor infiltrating T-cells. *Prostate* 58, 109-120 (2004)
 - DOI: 10.1002/pros.10314
- 208. Feng Wu, Zhi-Biao Wang, Y.D. Cao, Qiang

- Zhou, Jun Zhang, Zhong-Li Xu, Xue-Qiang Zhu: Expression of tumor antigens and heat-shock protein 70 in breast cancer cells after high-intensity focused ultrasound ablation. *Ann Surg Oncol* 14, 1237-1242 (2007) DOI: 10.1245/s10434-006-9275-6
- 209. Zhong-Lin Xu, Xue-Qiang Zhu, Pei Lu, Qiang Zhou, Jun Zhang, Feng Wu: Activation of tumor-infiltrating antigen presenting cells by high intensity focused ultrasound ablation of human breast cancer. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 35, 50-57 (2009)

DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2008.08.005

210. Pei Lu, Xue-Qiang Zhu, Zhong-Lin Xu, Qiang Zhou, Jun Zhang, Feng Wu: Increased infiltration of activated tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes after high intensity focused ultrasound ablation of human breast cancer. Surgery 145, 286-93 (2009)

DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2008.10.010

211. Qiang Zhou, Xue-Qiang Zhu, Jun Zhang, Zhong-Lin Xu, Pei Lu, Feng Wu: Changes in circulating immunosuppressive cytokine levels of cancer patients after high intensity focused ultrasound treatment. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 34, 81-7 (2008).

DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2007.07.013

212. D. Bassukas, C. Gamvroulia, A. Zioga, K. Nomikos, C. Fotika: Cryosurgery during topical imiquimod: a successful combination modality for lentigo maligna. *Int J Dermatol* 47, 519-21 (2008)

DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2008.03562.x

213. Archana Thakur, Peter Littrup, Elyse N. Paul, Barbara Adam, Lance K. Heilbrun, Lawrence G. Lum: Induction of specific cellular and humoral responses against renal cell carcinoma after combination therapy with cryoablation and granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor: a pilot study. *J Immunother* 34, 457-67 (2011)

DOI: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e31821dcba5

214. Li-Zhi Niu, Jia-Liang Li, Jian-Ying Zeng, Feng Mu, Meng-Tian Liao, Fei Yao, Li Li, Chun-Yan Liu, Ji-Bing Chen, Jian-Sheng Zuo, Ke-Cheng Xu: Combination treatment with comprehensive cryoablation and immunotherapy in metastatic hepatocellular cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 19, 3473-80 (2013)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i22.3473

- 215. Adil I. Daud, Ronald C. DeConti, Stephanie Andrews, Patricia Urbas, Adam I. Riker, Vernon K. Sondak, Pamela N. Munster, Daniel M. Sullivan, Kenneth E. Ugen, Jane L. Messina, and Richard Heller: Phase I trial of interleukin-12 plasmid electroporation in patients with metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* 26, 5896-5903 (2008)
- 216. Gianni Gerlini, Serena Sestini, Paola DiGennaro, Carmelo Urso, Nicola Pimpinelli, Lorenzo Borgognoni: Dendritic cells recruitment in melanoma metastasis treated by electrochemotherapy. Clin Exp Metastasis 30, 37-45 (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/s10585-012-9505-1

- 217. El-Said Abdel-Hady, Pierre Martin-Hirsch, Maggie Duggan-Keen, Peter L. Stern, James V. Moore, Gerald Corbitt, Henry C. Kitchener, and Ian N. Hampson: Immunological and viral factors associated with the response of vulval intraepithelial neoplasia to photodynamic therapy. Cancer Res 61, 192-6 (2001)
- 218. Ursula Winters, Sal Daayana, John T Lear, Anne E Tomlinson, Eyad Elkord, Peter L Stern, Henry C Kitchener: Clinical and immunologic results of a phase II trial of sequential imiquimod and photodynamic therapy for vulval intraepithelial neoplasia. *Clin Cancer Res* 14, 5292-9 (2008)

DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4760

- 219. Sal Daayana, Ursula Winters, Peter L. Stern, Henry C. Kitchener: Clinical and immunological response to photodynamic therapy in the treatment of vulval intraepithelial neoplasia. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* 10, 802-9 (2011) DOI: 10.1039/c0pp00344a
- 220. Xiu-Li Wang, Hong-Wei Wang, Kai-Hua Yuan, Fu-Lun Li, Zheng Huang: Combination of photodynamic therapy and immunomodulation for skin diseases--update of clinical aspects. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* 10, 704-11 (2011) DOI: 10.1039/c0pp00373e
- 221. Antoine Tesniere, Frédéric Schlemmer, V Boige, Oliver Kepp, I Martins, Francois Ghiringhelli, Laetitia Aymeric, M. Michaud, Lionel Apetoh, L Barault, J Mendiboure, JP Pignon, V Jooste, P van Endert, M Ducreux, Laurence Zitvogel, F Piard, Guido Kroemer: Immunogenic death of colon cancer cells treated with oxaliplatin. Oncogene 29, 482-91 (2010)

DOI: 10.1038/onc.2009.356

- 222. Erika Vacchelli, Lorenzo Galluzzi, Vanessa Rousseau, Alice Rigoni, Antoine Tesniere, Nicolas F. Delahaye, Federic Schlemmer, Laurie Menger, Abdul Qader Sukkurwala, Sandy Adjemian, Isabelle Martins, Mickael Michaud, Ariane Dunant, Oliver Kepp, Elisabeth Brambilla, Jean-Charles Soria, Laurence Zitvogel, Guido Kroemer: Loss-offunction alleles of P2RX7 and TLR4 fail to affect the response to chemotherapy in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Oncoimmunology 1, 271-278 (2012)
 DOI: 10.4161/onci.18684
- 223. Gianpiero Gravante, Giuseppe Sconocchia, Seok Ling Ong, Ashley R. Dennison, David M. Lloyd: Immunoregulatory effects of liver ablation therapies for the treatment of primary and metastatic liver malignancies. *Liver Int* 29, 18-24 (2009)

DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2008.01915.x

224. William C. Chapman, Jacob P. Debelak, C. Wright Pinson, M. Kay Washington, James B. Atkinson, Annapurna Venkatakrishnan, Timothy S. Blackwell, John W. Christman: Hepatic cryoablation, but not radiofrequency ablation, results in lung inflammation. *Ann Surg* 231, 752-61 (2000)

DOI: 10.1097/00000658-200005000-00016

225. Kelvin K. Ng, Chi Ming Lam, Ronnie T. Poon, Tony W. Shek, Jensen Y. To, Yim Hung Wo, David W. Ho, Sheung Tat Fan: Comparison of systemic responses of radiofrequency ablation, cryotherapy, and surgical resection in a porcine liver model. *Ann Surg Oncol* 11, 650-7 (2004)

DOI: 10.1245/ASO.2004.10.027

DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2009.10.053

- 226. Maarten C. Jansen, Richard van Hillegersberg, Ivo G. Schoots, Marcel Levi, Johan F. Beek, Hans Crezee, Thomas M. van Gulik: Cryoablation induces greater inflammatory and coagulative responses than radiofrequency ablation or laser induced thermotherapy in a rat liver model. Surgery 147, 686-95 (2010)
- 227. Fateh Ahmad, Gianpiero Gravante, Neil Bhardwaj, Andrew Strickland, Rizwan Basit, Kevin West, Roberto Sorge, Ashley R. Dennison, David M. Lloyd: Changes in interleukin-1β and 6 after hepatic microwave tissue ablation compared with radiofrequency,

- cryotherapy and surgical resections. *Am J Surg* 200, 500-6 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2009.12.025
- 228. Sebastian Hinz, Jan-Hendrik Egberts, Ursula Pauser, Clemens Schafmayer, Fred Fändrich, Jürgen Tepel: Electrolytic ablation is as effective as radiofrequency ablation in the treatment of artificial liver metastases in a pig model. *J Surg Oncol* 98, 135-8 (2008) DOI: 10.1002/jso.21088
- 229. Ralf Czymek, Jan Nassrallah, Maximilian Gebhard, Andreas Schmidt, Stefan Limmer, Markus Kleemann, Hans-Peter Bruch, Philipp Hildebrand: Intrahepatic radiofrequency ablation versus electrochemical treatment in vivo. Surg Oncol 21, 79-86 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.suronc.2010.10.007

Key Words: Tumor Ablation, Radiation, Thermal Ablation, Photodynamic Therapy, Electric based Ablation, Chemotherapy, Immunotherapy,

Immunostimulation, Immune Suppression, Antitumor Immunity, Clinical Studies, Preclinical Studies, Review

Send correspondence to: Yona Keisari, The Roberts-Guthman Chair in Immunopharmacology, Departmenmt of Clinical Microbiology and Immunology, Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, P.O. Box 39040, Tel Aviv 6997801, Israel, Tel: 972-3-6409871, Fax: 972-3-6409160, E-mail: ykeisari@post.tau.ac.il

347 © 1996-2017